
This PDF Package contains multiple files grouped 
together within a single PDF file.
Nuance PDF Converter Professional 7, and other recent PDF viewers, can 
be used to view and work with the files contained within this package.

Don’t have PDF Packaging 
capabilities today? 

Get PDF Converter  
Professional 7.

Click here to find  
out more >>

To get started, click any file in this PDF Package to view it.

 ·  PDF packages group multiple files and file types 
together for ease of distribution and sharing.

 ·  PDF packages organize related files for easier viewing 
and printing.

 ·  PDF packages maintain the original security settings for 
each document included in the package.

Note: In older PDF viewers/editors, the files are stored as attachments.

http://www.nuance.com/imaging/products/pdfconverter.asp
http://www.nuance.com/imaging/products/pdfconverter.asp

	Package.pdf




OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA
Notice is hereby given that the Redevelopment Authority of the City of Stoughton,


Wisconsin will hold a regular or special meeting as indicated on the date, time and location


given below.


Meeting of the:


Date /Time:
Location:


Members:


Redevelopment Authority of the City of Stoughton


Wednesday, May 9, 2018 @ 5:30 pm.


City Hall – Hall of Fame Room, 381 East Main St., Stoughton WI 53589


Regina Hirsch, Denise Duranczyk, Carl Chenoweth, Ron Christianson, Brian Girgen, Roger


Springman and Finance Director Tammy LaBorde


1. Call to Order


2. Introduction of new RDA members


3. Elect RDA Chair


4. Elect RDA Vice Chair


5. Communications


6. Approval of RDA Meeting Minutes for April 16, 2018


7. Discussion on Revolving Loan Fund – An Nguyen, WWBIC


8. Discussion and possible action regarding Adoption of By-laws


9. Update on Marathon property site


10. RDA Financial Report


11. Discussion and possible action regarding TIF Restructure
a. Timetable, draft progress, and remaining needs
b. Set dates for Public Hearing and facilitated COW meeting
c. Review grant applications


12. Riverfront Redevelopment Area
a. Discussion on vision statement and need for “Riverfront At-a-Glance Flyer”
b. Discussion on creation of an Ad-Hoc Committee on public gathering space needs
c. WAM Grant for Phase II Millfab Remediation
d. Update on discussions involving Powerhouse building
e. Update on Millfab/Carpet Warehouse demolition
f. Update and possible action on Highway Trailer Building complex
i. Update on change order and staging plan for demolition-Gary Blazek, Vierbicher
ii. Idle Sites Grant application
iii. Structural Engineer need for Highway Trailer Building Demolition


13. Discuss and set additional May meeting date – possibly May 30







14. Future agenda items


15. Adjournment


Next RDA meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, June 13, 2018 at 5:30 p.m.


NOTE: An expanded meeting may constitute a quorum of the Council.


If you are disabled and in need of assistance, please call 873-6677 prior to this meeting.








REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY MEETING MINUTES
Monday, April 16, 2018 – 5:30 p.m.
Hall of Fame Room


Present:
Scott Truehl, Roger Springman, Peter Sveum, Regina Hirsch, John Kramper, Ron


Christianson and Finance Director Tammy LaBorde


Absent and excused:
None


Others Present:
Gary Becker and Mayor Swadley


Call to order:
Truehl called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m.


Communications:
LaBorde passed out a newsletter from the Clean Lake Association. Springman asked to add


the Monona presentation to the packet and place on the website. The Marathon site was


extended until the first Monday in June and contains the valuation guarantee of $800,000.


LaBorde noted that the packet included a response from Planning Director Scheel regarding the


future calculations of storm water fees related to the riverfront development area. Springman


thanked Scott, Peter and John for their service to the RDA.


Approval of the March 14, 2018 RDA Meeting Minutes:
Moved by Hirsch, second by Springman, to approve the minutes of the March 14, 2018 RDA
meeting as presented. Denise Duranczyk asked why the minutes didn’t include that she was
present for the meeting. Truehl stated that there also were others present and that we usually
only include those who are on the agenda. Motion carried unanimously.


RDA Financial Report:
LaBorde presented the RDA financial report. Moved by Sveum, second by Springman, to adopt


the financial report as presented. Motion carried unanimously.


Discussion and possible action regarding By-laws with changes recommended
by the City Attorney:
Discussion took place on the response from the City Attorney and his suggestions have been


incorporated into version four. Mayor Swadley asked the needs related to an Executive Director


and possibly this could be a new opportunity for the Planning Director. He believes that both


Finance and Planning should be represented at the RDA. Hirsch suggested adding “and/or”


related to the Executive Director. Truehl suggested forwarding this to the City Attorney for his


review. Mayor Swadley stated that he would be meeting with the City Attorney.


Moved by Hirsch, second by Springman, to approve the RDA by-laws to include pending
“Finance Director and/or Planning Director” language related to the Executive Director. Motion


carried unanimously.







Redevelopment Authority Meeting Minutes
April 16, 2018


Discussion and possible action regarding Revolving Loan Fund:
LaBorde stated that she had referred two parties to WWBIC – Fosdal Bakery and a new Art


Gallery. She stated that she had not followed up with An to determine the status. Hirsch


requested that An attend the next RDA meeting to discuss the program and the latest interest.


Springman would like a summary of what has occurred with this program. LaBorde is to contact


An and see if he can attend the next RDA meeting.


Discussion and possible action regarding TIF restructure:
a. Review and discuss the TID #8 Project Plan draft:
Gary reviewed the proposed draft of TID 8. He noted that it is starting to come
together and reviewed all of the attachments. The financial projections assume a
½% per year property appreciation which is being conservative, and a 1.3% annual
construction inflation factor. Development is spread out over time and had taken the
phased in approach to development. The City will need to borrow funds initially. He
utilized the Engberg Anderson Plan to put this together so if density is significantly
less than this plan, he would have to redo all of the projections. The City passes the
12% TIF Test and is at 4.8% so there is still TIF capacity available. There should be
no changes to zoning needed however it will need to be rezoned for Plan
Development. The project should have a signed development agreement to outline
all of the issues. If a lift station is needed and serves in and outside the TID, he
would have to do some recalculating. This plan also includes 25% of the
Whitewater Park which ultimately benefits the TID. Gary is meeting with Director
Glynn regarding the Whitewater Park on Friday. Springman asked about the
Uniroyal odors; Becker stated that the TID can incur expenses within ½ mile that
benefit the TID.


b. Set date in May for facilitated joint meeting with COW to discuss TID
restructure:


Becker stated that the Public Hearing should be scheduled for June. There was
discussion as to when a meeting with the Council should be scheduled. The RDA
directed Becker to continue moving forward with the TIF restructure.


c. Review Idle Sites Grant application and authorize submission:
Becker noted that the grant must be for a minimum of five acres. He is putting


Milfab and Highway Trailer sites together for this grant. The reduced assessed


value for the property as well as the reduction in electricity usage shows that the


shutdown began in 2018. He still has some work to do on the application and


plans to present the information at the April 24th meeting of Finance and Council.


There are other expenses that the grant will cover and the grant period is for a


twenty-four (24) month period. The RDA could also request an extension if
needed. The grant may not be approved until July. Becker also noted that he is


working on a WAM grant for the Milfab project to do a phase II study.


Riverfront Redevelopment Area:
a. Vision Statement:


Springman and Hirsch created a draft vision statement for everyone to review.


Becker stated that he would like to include this with the TID plan. Mayor


Swadley noted that this is a step in the right direction.







Redevelopment Authority Meeting Minutes
April 16, 2018


b. Update regarding Powerhouse:
Abby Abramovich stated that she is still interested in the building and has


started their financial analysis. She is concerned with portions of the building


and the degradation along the east wall and damage to the northeast corner.


The southeast wall also has degradation and the corner. There is also a


destabilization issue with the river wall. Mayor Swadley suggested discussing


this at the joint meeting and to also discuss what to do with the building issues


prior to developing the area. Becker noted that the Public Works Garage is also


related to the discussion. Truehl suggested that Abramovich bring her proposal


on the site to the RDA first once she is ready.


c. Millfab/Carpet Warehouse demolition update:
Truehl reported that the Carpet warehouse came down last week and that Milfab


is nearing completion. By the end of May the site should be cleaned up.
Vierbicher continues to monitor the project.


d. Update on Highway Trailer Building:
Truehl stated that he signed the Change order for the demolition of the HTB


excluding the Blacksmith shop. They plan to begin around June and it will take


a number of months to complete. He has asked for a staging plan. Our


consultant stated that it would be useful to have a structural engineer available


when it comes close to demolition near the blacksmith shop. Truehl will send


out the plan when he receives it. He noted the ultimate goal is to get South


Street open to traffic. He encouraged the RDA to continue to report to the


Council at least quarterly if not monthly.


Future agenda items – Review and Discussion:
Create June Meeting with Council
An - Revolving Loan Fund update
By-law update for next meeting


Adjourn:
Moved by Sveum, second by Christianson, to adjourn at 7:40 p.m. Motion carried unanimously.


Respectfully submitted,
Tammy LaBorde
Director of Finance & Economic Development








Attachment J – Letters of Support 


Letter of Support from MadREP…………………………………….…..page 1 


Letter of Support from Stoughton Chamber of Commerce…page 2 


Letter of Support from Mayor of Stoughton……………………….page 3 







Attachment J - Letters of Support, page 1







Attachment J - Letters of Support, page 2







April 30, 2018 
Mark Hogan, President / CEO 
Wisconsin Economic Development Corporation 
201 W. Washington Ave 
Madison, WI  53701 


Dear Mark: 


This letter is to show my wholehearted support for the Wisconsin Idle Industrial Site grant for the City of 
Stoughton. In my fourteen years of public service, few developments have garnered the amount of support as 
the proposed Riverfront Development project  


"The Riverfront Project area just off Stoughton's historic downtown has long been a gem in the rough.  
Everyone has recognized its potential, but that potential can never be met without citizen support, 
comprehensive planning, and essential financial assistance.  That is why I am so supportive of the Idle Sites 
Grant Program and the application we are submitting.  
It opens up a path to bring forward the kind of assistance and flexibility we need to make the dream a reality" 


Sincerely, 


Tim Swadley, Mayor 
City of Stoughton 
381 S. Main St.  
Stoughton, WI 53589 
608-873-6459 


Attachment J - Letters of Support, page 3












Draft Vision Statement Process and Outcome


Prepared by RDA members Regina Hirsch and Roger Springman, April 12, 2018


Goal: Prepare an aspirational, short, and understandable statement on the desired outcome of the
Riverfront Project. Specific goals and objectives can and should be described separately.


Template Statement: As the City of Monona has a riverfront project that matches closely with the
timing and broad purpose of the Stoughton project, it was decided to use the Monona Commons Project
as a starting template statement.


This statement reads, " An urban waterfront destination serving as a year-round gathering place and
recreational trailhead, focused on active healthy lifestyles, in a village-like setting."


Stoughton Riverfront Project Preferences: Using citizen responses from the June 2017 charrette, the
following phrases and desires were associated with the top responses of citizens:


*waterfront accessibility to pedestrians
*attracts new families
*recreational development
*attracts community and visitors to area
*downtown revitalization
*greenspace and natural areas
*water sports and kayaking
*mix of condos and rental
*town homes and lofts
*restaurant
*coffee shop
*green energy and design


Draft Vision Statement: With the Monona template as a model and looking at citizen interests in the
Riverfront Project area, the following draft statement was created,


"An urban waterfront neighborhood built around riverside green space and recreational
opportunities, with varied and modern living spaces for the young and old alike that enhances
downtown vitality and serves as a regional destination."






























































Page 1


By-Laws And Rules of Procedure V4
Amended ____, 2018


Index: New or updated language is in red and underlined.


1. GENERAL RULES BY STATUTE, ORDINANCE OR RESOLUTIONS


The Redevelopment Authority of the City of Stoughton shall be governed and controlled
by Statutes of the State of Wisconsin, and as the same may hereafter be amended; by all
ordinances of the City of Stoughton as they relate to the Authority, and as such
ordinances may hereafter be amended and adopted; and by the within rules of
procedure. All provisions of the Wisconsin Statutes, ordinances or resolutions of the City
of Stoughton as may be enacted from time to time, shall stake precedence over the rules
of procedure.


Code of Ethics: All Redevelopment Authority members shall abide by the City of
Stoughton's Code of Ethics, Sec.2-2, Municipal Code.


If the Code of Ethics requires a member to disclose a conflict of interest, a financial
interest in legislation or a financial or other economic interest, then, in addition to
providing such disclosure or statement as required by the Code of the Ethics, the member
shall also provide such disclosure or statement to the Redevelopment Authority Chair and
to the City of Stoughton Finance Director.


2. GENERAL POWERS AND DUTIES


The Authority shall exercise all powers conferred and perform all duties imposed, by
state and local ordinance of the City of Stoughton, and shall perform such further and
other duties as may from time to time be required by the Common Council, including
frequent communications with the Common Council.


Specific action taken related to eminent domain and the issuance of debt other than
“conduit debt” which is not supported in any way by the City or RDA, shall be subject to
review and approval by the Common Council.


Creation of Ad Hoc Committees: The Authority shall have the power to create ad hoc
committees for the purpose of conducting research and/or generating recommendations
for Authority consideration. Each committee shall be chaired by an RDA member and
shall have a specific mission or charge.


3. OFFICERS AND THEIR DUTIES


Presiding Officers. The presiding officer of the Authority shall be designated as chair
and shall be elected annually at the meeting of the Authority in May of each and every
year. To act in the absence of the chair, the Authority shall elect a vice-chair to preside







Page 2


at the meeting. The presiding officer shall preside at all meetings of the Authority and
shall have the right to vote and make motions; shall rule on matters of procedure, subject
to appeal from such rulings by proper motion; shall conduct the meetings in accordance
within the rules; shall have such powers and duties as may be necessary for conduct of
orderly meetings; and such other powers and duties as herein assigned to him/her, or as
may be assigned to him/her.


Executive Director. The Authority may appoint an Executive Director who The
Finance Director will, subject to approval by the Common Council, serve as executive
director and shall serve the Authority as its secretary and advisor and shall perform all
duties requested by the Authority. The executive director may utilize such members of
the City of Stoughton staff (clerk, finance, planning director, etc.) as may be made
available by the Common Council to accomplish his/her tasks.


The Authority may elect to open nominations for the office of chair or vice-chair prior to
the expiration of either the chair’s or vice-chair’s term. Should two (2) Authority
members request to open nominations, the next RDA meeting agenda shall include said
request.


A motion to open nominations for the selection of chair or vice-chair of the Authority,
prior to the expiration of either the chair’s or vice-chair’s term, shall be carried only by
affirmative vote of two-thirds of the Authority’s members. Should said motion to open
nominations carry, the Authority shall immediately select a chair or vice-chair from
among the Commissioners to serve the remainder of the respective term.


Member Attendance Policy: Members are expected to attend monthly meetings and
special meetings. If unable to attend, Authority members should contact the Chair or
Finance Director at least 48 hours in advance of a meeting, except in dire, unavoidable
circumstances which prevent notification. After three absences in a 12-month period, the
Chair and City Finance Director shall meet with that member to discuss his/her
attendance practices and review attendance expectations in writing. After a fourth
absence in a 12-month period, the Chair and City Finance Director shall meet with the
person to seek a mutually agreeable solution which may include resignation. If a
mutually agreeable solution is not reached, the Chair may ask the Common Council to
remove the member from the Authority.


4. AGENDA


The Executive Director shall prepare the agenda with the input, review, and approval of
the Chair. Any member of the Authority may, in writing, request the addition of an item
to the agenda, and once such a request is made, the Chair shall approve placement of the
item on the agenda for one of the next two regular Authority meetings. Any item added
to an agenda at the direction of the members of the Authority shall not be removed from
the agenda without the approval of the members of the Authority.


5. MEETINGS







Page 3


Meetings. Meetings shall be held at a place and time designated by the Authority at its
last regular meeting or, if this does not occur, at a place and time convenient for the
Authority.


Special meetings. Special meetings may be called by the presiding officer whenever in
his/her judgement such meeting is necessary, and the presiding officer shall call such
special meeting whenever he/she is requested to do so by at least three (3) members of
the Authority. Such request may be made orally. Notice of such special meetings shall
be given by announcement thereof at any regular meeting and by written or telephone
notice as hereinafter provided, to such members not present at such meetings, by written
notice mailed not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for such hearing; or by
telephone notice not less than 24 hours before the time fixed for such meeting. Any
business, which could be done at a regular meeting, may be done at such special meeting.


Quorum. A quorum for all meetings shall consist of four (4) members and the presiding
officer shall be included in such a count.


Order of Business. The order of business at all meetings, regular and special unless
varied by a suspension of rules agreed upon by a majority of the Authority shall be as
follows:


Call to Order


Communications


Public Comments*


Approval of Minutes of Previous Meeting


Financial Report


Old Business


New Business


Future Agenda Topics


Adjournment


*Public Comments: Following standard City of Stoughton public comment practices,
community members may have up to three minutes to speak on Redevelopment
Authority-related topics.


6. VOTING







Page 4


Provided a quorum is present and except as otherwise by law or these rules provide, the
affirmative vote of a majority of the members present shall be required to decide any
matter up for consideration.


In the event that any member shall disqualify himself/herself to vote on any matter,
he/she shall nonetheless, be counted in determining whether a quorum is present, but
his/her disqualification shall not decrease the number of votes required for passage of any
motion, resolution or the taking of any other action.


Tie-vote provision: Should a motion result in a tie vote, the motion may be reconsidered
at the same meeting if two-thirds or more of those present vote for reconsideration. If a
second vote is conducted and the same tie results, the action shall be final for the current
meeting and the topic may be considered at a future meeting.


7. AMENDMENT OF RULES


These rules may be amended from time to time upon a concurring vote of a majority of
all members of the Authority. Before approving any change to these by-laws, the
Authority shall request a legal review of the proposed changes by the City Attorney and
consider any advice from the City Attorney.


Robert Rules of Order where no specific statute, law or ordinance controls shall govern
the general rules of procedure of the Authority.


















REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY EXPENSES - 2018


4/30/2018 Fund 261 REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY


Date JNL Type Description Reference # Debits Credits Balance


REVENUES


261-00000-48110 INTEREST BEG. BALANCE 0.00


01/31/2018 JE JE WISC JANUARY ACTIVITY STATEMENT INTEREST 39.09 (39.09)


02/28/2018 JE JE WISC FEBRUARY ACTIVITY STATEMENT INTEREST 38.24 (77.33)


3/31/2018 JE JE WISC MARCH ACTIVITY STATEMENT INTEREST 46.40 (123.73)


12/31/2018 261-00000-48110 END BALANCE 0.00 123.73 (123.73)


261-00000-49210 TRANSFER IN - GENERAL FUND BEG. BALANCE 0.00


04/30/2018 JE JE General Fund Transfer to RDA TRANSFER 10,000.00 (10,000.00)


12/31/2018 261-00000-49210 END BALANCE 0.00 10,000.00 (10,000.00)


TOTAL REVENUES 10,123.73 (10,123.73)


EXPENDITURES


261-55100-50340 OPERATING EXPENSES BEG. BALANCE 0.00


01/17/2018 AP INV STOUGHTON MUNICIPAL UTILITIES


DECEMBER UTILITIES 2017-501 & 425 E.South St., 314 W.


Main St 171.14 171.14


01/17/2018 AP INV STOUGHTON MUNICIPAL UTILITIES DECEMBER UTILITIES 2017-433 & 439 E. South St 411.07 582.21


Total for Jan 582.21


02/14/2018 AP INV STOUGHTON MUNICIPAL UTILITIES


JANUARY UTILITIES 2018-501 & 425 E.South St., 314 W. Main


St 172.63 754.84


02/14/2018 AP INV STOUGHTON MUNICIPAL UTILITIES JANUARY UTILITIES 2018-433 & 439 E. South St 414.02 1,168.86


Total for Feb 586.65


3/8/2018 AP INV STAFFORD ROSENBAUM JANUARY 2018 ATTORNEY BILLING-MARATHON 388.50 1,557.36


3/13/2018 AP INV STOUGHTON MUNICIPAL UTILITIES FEB. UTILITIES 2018-501 & 425 E.South St., 314 W. Main St 172.70 1,730.06


3/13/2018 AP INV STOUGHTON MUNICIPAL UTILITIES FEB. UTILITIES 2018-433 & 439 E. South St 414.02 2,144.08


3/29/2018 AP INV STAFFORD ROSENBAUM FEBR 2018 ATTORNEY BILLING 296.00 2,440.08


Total for March 1,271.22


4/10/2018 AP INV STOUGHTON MUNICIPAL UTILITIES


MARCH UTILITIES 2018-501 & 425 E.South St., 314 W. Main


St 172.68 2,612.76


4/10/2018 AP INV STOUGHTON MUNICIPAL UTILITIES MARCH UTILITIES 2018-433 & 439 E. South St 414.02 3,026.78


Total for March 586.70


PAGE 1
3/8/2018







REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY EXPENSES - 2018


261-55100-50340 END BALANCE 3,026.78 3,026.78


261-55100-50340-20200000 OPERATING EXPENSES BEG. BALANCE 0.00


01/18/2018 AP INV NATIONAL CONSTRUCTION RENTALS INC TEMP PANELS (156) RENTAL 1/5/18-2/1/18 98.28 98.28


01/19/2018 AP INV NATIONAL CONSTRUCTION RENTALS INC TEMP FENCING CONTRACT 12 MO RENEWAL 513.24 611.52


01/31/2018 JE JE TO RECORD COPY USAGE - JANUARY COPIER CHARGES 3.55 615.07


01/31/2018 JE JE TO RECORD POSTAGE FOR JANUARY POSTAGE 38.54 653.61


Total for Jan 653.61


02/08/2018 AP INV GWB PROFESSIONAL SERVICES JANUARY-RDA VISIONING SPECIAL MEETING 3,173.22 3,826.83


02/08/2018 AP INV GWB PROFESSIONAL SERVICES JANUARY-RDA MEETING 548.22 4,375.05


02/22/2018 AP INV NATIONAL CONSTRUCTION RENTALS INC TEMP PANELS (384) RENTAL/35 SAND BAGS 2/16/18-2/16/19 1263.36 5,638.41


Total for Feb 4,984.80


3/29/2018 AP INV ALLIANT ENERGY GAS SERVICE REMOVAL-425 E SOUTH ST 330.00 5,968.41


3/29/2018 AP INV GWB PROFESSIONAL SERVICES PROF SERVICES FEBRUARY-RDA 2,273.22 8,241.63


Total for March 2,603.22


4/5/2018 AP INV GWB PROFESSIONAL SERVICES PROF SERVICES MARCH-RDA 1,523.22 9,764.85


Total for April 1,523.22


12/31/2018 261-55100-50340-20200000 END BALANCE 9,764.85 9,764.85


261-55100-50850 ADMINSTRATION BEG. BALANCE 0.00


261-55100-50850 END BALANCE 0.00 0.00 0.00


TOTAL EXPENDITURES 12,791.63 0.00 12,791.63


NET OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES (2,667.90)


PAGE 2
3/8/2018








 
 


City Logo City of Stoughton, Wisconsin Tax Incremental Financing 
 


  TID #8 PROJECT PLAN 
(Draft) 
 
 


 
 
 
 
 


5/9/2018 
 
Project Plan 1st Draft 


   
 TID #8 is being created to finance redevelopment activities for the riverfront 


area of Stoughton between Fourth St. and Eighth St. This area had previously 
been in TID #5, but the parcels were subtracted in 2018 and placed in this new 
TID. 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 1 


 


ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
 
 
 


Stoughton 
Redevelopment 
Authority 


Stoughton Common 
Council 


Stoughton Joint 
Review Board 


Roger Springman, Chair,  Timothy Swadley, Mayor Derek Spellman, Superintendent, 
Stoughton Area School District 


Brian Girgen, Citizen Member Tom Majewski, Council President Charles Hicklin 
Chief Financial Officer and Controller, 
Dane County 


Carl Chenowith, Citizen Member Sid Boersma, Alderperson Dr. Tim Casper 
VP Institutional Learning & Effectiveness 
Madison College 


Regina Hirsch, Alderperson Regina Hirsch, Alderperson At-Large Member 
 


Denise Durancyzk, Alderperson  
 
 


Kathleen Tass Johnson, 
Alderperson 


City 
Representative  


Ron Christianson, Citizen Member Michael Engelberger, Alderperson  


 
TBD, Citizen Member 


 
Denise Durancyzk, Alderperson 
 
                      , Alderperson 
 
Greg Jenson, Alderperson 
 
Lisa Reeves, Alderperson 
 
Patrick O’Connor, Alderperson 
 
    , Alderperson 
 
Matt Bartlett, Alderperson 


 


 
 


City  of  Stoughton Staff  TIF Consultant 


Tammy LaBorde Finance Director 


Rodney Scheel, Planning Director 


Matt Dregne, Stafford Rosenbaum 


City Attorney 


Gary Becker 
GWB Professional Services 
5813 Piping Rock Rd. 
Madison, WI 53711 
(608)444-0836 
Gary.becker.madison@gmail.com 



mailto:Gary.becker.madison@gmail.com





[City logo City of Stoughton, Wisconsin                       Tax Incremental Financing 


1 | P a g e  


 


Table of Contents 


INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................... 1 


TID CREATION PROCESS ..................................................................................................... 5 


DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND MAP OF TID #8 ....................................................................... 6 


PARCELS INCLUDED IN TID #8 ............................................................................................ 9 
Parcels in TID #8: .....................................................................................................................................9 


STATEMENT OF KIND, NUMBER AND LOCATION OF PROPOSED PUBLIC WORKS .......... 12 


ECONOMIC FEASIBILITY STUDY ........................................................................................ 17 


DETAILED LIST OF PROJECT COSTS ................................................................................... 19 


FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS ................................................................................................ 21 


DESCRIPTION OF FINANCING METHODS AND TIMEFRAME ............................................ 23 


PROPOSED CHANGES IN ZONING ORDINANCES, MASTER PLAN, BUILDING CODES, MAP AND CITY 
ORDINANCES .................................................................................................................... 25 


LIST OF NON-PROJECT COSTS .......................................................................................... 25 


PROPOSED PLAN FOR RELOCATING ANY DISPLACED PERSONS OR BUSINESSES .......... 26 


HOW THE TID PROMOTES THE ORDERLY DEVELOPMENT OF THE MUNICIPALITY ........... 26 


MAPS OF EXISTING USES AND CONDITIONS OF PROPERTY ........................................... 27 


MAPS SHOWING PROPOSED USES AND IMPROVEMENTS IN THE DISTRICT .................... 30 


ATTORNEY’S OPINION LETTER ......................................................................................... 33 


APPENDIX ......................................................................................................................... 34 
Blight Study 2009 ............................................................................................................................... 35 
Development Projections ................................................................................................................... 36 
Community design charrette development scenario “B” prepared by Engberg Anderson:36 
Letters to overlying taxing jurisdictions .......................................................................................... 39 


Joint Review Board Meetings .............................................................................................................. 41 
Public Hearing ........................................................................................................................................ 45 


RDA Public Hearing Notice ............................................................................................................... 46 
Joint Review Board Public Hearing Notice .................................................................................... 47 
Property Owners Public Hearing Notice ........................................................................................ 48 
RDA Minutes of Public Hearing ........................................................................................................ 49 


Resolutions ............................................................................................................................................... 50 
RDA Resolution Approving Amendment .......................................................................................... 51 
City Council Resolution Approving Amendment ............................................................................ 52 
JRB Resolution Approving Amendment ........................................................................................... 53 


 







[City logo City of Stoughton, Wisconsin                       Tax Incremental Financing 


1 | P a g e  


 


 
TID #8 Project Plan 
 


INTRODUCTION 
The City of Stoughton has been actively working on redeveloping the blighted riverfront area south of Main 
Street between Fourth St. and Eighth St. for over ten years. It has been a lengthy process to acquire property as 
it becomes available, conduct site investigations, demolish buildings and address environmental contamination. 
As the City began incurring expenses, it established a blight-elimination Tax Increment District (TID) #5 in 
2010 which covered a long narrow strip of downtown Stoughton from the Yahara River on the north to the 
Yahara River on the south. This area had been established as Redevelopment Area #1 by the Redevelopment 
Authority of the City of Stoughton (RDA) in March 2008. TID #5 was created to provide a funding mechanism 
for redevelopment of this blighted area. 
 
The initial focus of targeted redevelopment had been the southern portion of the district. This is the area of TID 
#5 in greatest need of redevelopment due to the extent and concentration of blighted properties. In the months 
following approval of TID #5, an agreement was negotiated with Movin’ Out, a non-profit developer of 
workforce housing, to redevelop a former Stoughton Trailer storage site along the Yahara River. This project 
resulted in the construction of a 33-unit multi-family residential development which opened in November 2011. 
 
A key strategy for encouraging redevelopment of this area of the TID is the assembly of parcels, demolition of 
existing buildings and offering the site to a master developer. The first parcel to be acquired was the former 
Highway Trailer Building – owned by Stoughton Trailers. Closing occurred on this parcel in April 2010, 
although a deal was negotiated that allowed the City to pay for the property when it was ready to be 
redeveloped or until 2020, whichever came first. 
 
Shortly after the TID was created, 
MillFab, one of the largest 
property owners in the southern 
part of the TID and targeted for 
redevelopment, challenged their 
personal property tax assessment. 
This, combined with a declining 
operation, resulted in a $2 million 
loss of value for this single 
property. The loss in value was 
enough to wipe out the increment 
created by the Movin’ Out 
development and push TID #5 into 
a decrement position.  
 


0


500000


1000000


1500000


2000000


2500000


3000000


3500000


2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


To
ta


l A
ss


es
se


d 
V


al
ue


Year


MillFab Change In Assessed Value 2010 - 2018







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 2 


In the fall of 2014, MillFab (Holley 
Molding) permanently ceased 
operations and went into 
receivership. The Stoughton RDA 
negotiated the acquisition of the 
property, which transaction 
eventually closed at the end of 
2016. 
 
The RDA issued a solicitation of 
proposals from developers 
interested in being the master 
developer for the riverfront 
redevelopment area. In December 
2016 three proposals were received 
– one proposal to be the master 
developer, a proposal for the 


redevelopment of two parcels on the east side of the riverfront redevelopment area and a proposal to rehabilitate 
the Highway Trailer Building. The RDA selected two of the proposals and declined the Highway Trailer 
Building renovation proposal. The RDA then passed a motion to begin planning for the demolition of the 
Highway Trailer Building. 
 
A community design charrette was planned with the selected master developer and their design team to jointly, 
with the community, prepare a conceptual master plan for the riverfront redevelopment area. The charrette, held 
in June 2017, brought together many voices from the community. A significant outcome of the charrette was the 
realization that the City Council and the RDA differed in how they perceived development occurring, 
particularly regarding the future of the Highway Trailer Building, the construction of additional workforce 
housing units in the area, the tenure of new housing constructed on the site and the role of retail in the 
redevelopment. At this point the master developer decided this was not a situation they were willing to move 
forward with and the City Council rejected the workforce housing proposal. 
 
With development plans now on hold, no developers in hand, significant issues needing to be resolved, the TID 
in an on-going decrement position and the TID clock ticking, the Stoughton City Council decided in December 
2017 to begin planning to subtract the parcels comprising the riverfront redevelopment area from TID #5 and to 
create a new TID #8 for the area being subtracted. The effect of this strategy is to remove the non-performing 
property from TID #5, leaving that TID with a positive increment balance, re-set the base value of the new TID 
to the current lower property values and re-set the TIF clock to provide sufficient time for the expected scope of 
development to occur. 
 
This document is the project plan for TID #8. It describes the types of improvements that will be allowed to be 
financed with tax incremental financing (TIF). TIF is a financing tool available to Wisconsin municipalities to 
help them accomplish community goals related to elimination of blight, conservation of neighborhoods, mixed-
use development and industrial development. The project plan not only describes the improvements expected to 
occur, but also the budget, the expected new development, the expected new tax revenue and the timeframe for 
each. The project plan is a guide. The activities described in the plan are allowed to be financed with TIF, but 
they are not required to occur. TIF is a flexible tool that can be modified from time to time in response to 
changing circumstances and opportunities. The project plan may be modified any number of times during the 
life of the TID. The boundary of the district may be amended up to four times during its life. The life of the 


($3,000,000.00)


($2,500,000.00)


($2,000,000.00)


($1,500,000.00)


($1,000,000.00)


($500,000.00)


$0.00


$500,000.00


$1,000,000.00


$1,500,000.00


2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018


Ta
x 


In
cr


em
en


ta
l V


al
ue


Year


TID #5 Tax Incremental Value


TID #5 Total Value







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 3 


district may be extended if needed to benefit cash flow. The TID may even be extended by a year at the end of 
its life so that the collected tax increment can be invested into a community-wide affordable housing stock 
improvement program. 
 


 


 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 4 


 
11.1 acres of TID #8 is comprised of parcels owned by either the City of Stoughton or the Stoughton RDA – 
shaded in green above. 
 
 
 
 


 


 


 


 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 5 


TID CREATION PROCESS 
 
The RDA discussed the status of and issues associated with TID #5. At its meeting on November 8, 2017 the 
RDA passed a motion requesting the City Council initiate a process to amend the TID #5 boundary and begin 
planning for the creation of TID #8. The City Council considered the request at its December 12, 2017 meeting 
and passed a resolution to initiate the TID #5 boundary amendment process and the TID #8 creation process. 
The overlying taxing jurisdictions were notified of the City’s intent on xxxxx. The RDA reviewed a draft TID 
#8 project plan at its meeting on xxxxx, 2018 and set the date for the public hearing.  The Joint Review Board 
(JRB) met for its first meeting on xxxx, 2018. A public hearing was held on xxxxx, 2018. The City Council 
considered a resolution creating TID #8 at its xxxxx, 2018 meeting. The JRB met on xxxxx, 2018 to consider 
the City Council’s resolution and approve the proposed amendment. 
 
 







[City logo City of Stoughton, Wisconsin                       Tax Incremental Financing 


6 | P a g e  


 


DISTRICT BOUNDARY AND MAP OF TID #8 
 







[City logo City of Stoughton, Wisconsin                       Tax Incremental Financing 


7 | P a g e  


 


Prior to considering the specific area to include within the TID, the Redevelopment Authority established 
criteria to act as guidelines in their work.  The boundary criteria are as follows: 
 
1. The equalized value of taxable property of the district plus the value increment of all existing districts 


does not exceed 12 percent of the total equalized value of taxable property within the City. 
2. A minimum of 50 percent of the TID must be a blighted area, in need of rehabilitation or conservation or 


suitable and zoned for industrial use. 
3. All lands within the TID are contiguous. 


 
City of Stoughton 


TID No. 8 Boundary Description 
 
Located in part of the NW ¼ of the NE ¼, part of the NE ¼ of the NE ¼, part of the SE ¼ of the NE ¼ , and 
also part of the SW ¼ of the NE ¼, of Section 8, being in T. 5 N., R. 11 E., City of Stoughton, Dane County, 
Wisconsin, described as follows: 
 
Beginning at the southwest corner of Lot 7, Block 2 of Peterson’s Addition to the City of Stoughton; northerly 
215 feet, more or less, along the east right-of-way of 8th Street to the southwest corner of Lot 9, Block 2 of 
Peterson’s Addition to the City of Stoughton; thence East 253 feet, more or less, along the southern line of Lot 
9, Block 2 of Peterson’s Addition to the southeast corner of said Lot 9 at the intersection with the southeast 
boundary line of the Peterson’s Addition; thence northeast N 55 ˚ E along the southeast boundary of Peterson’s 
Addition 22 feet more or less to the southeast corner of Lot 6, Block 2, Peterson’s Addition; thence southeast S 
64 ˚ 5’ E 66 feet more or less to the northern boundary of Lot 1, CSM 13030 CS 83/173 & 176; thence 
northeasterly N 27 ˚ 50’ 132 feet, more or less, along the north boundary of Lot 1, CSM 13030 CS 83/173 & 
176 to the northeast corner of Lot 1, CSM 13030 CS 83/173 & 176 and the westerly right-of-way of Dunkirk 
Ave.; thence continuing along the extension of the north boundary 66 feet to the easterly right-of-way of 
Dunkirk Ave. and the former C. M. St. P & P. Railroad (now owned by the WI DOT); thence northwesterly, 
along the former C. M. St. P & P. Railroad (now owned by the WI DOT) right-of-way, 528 feet, more or less, to 
the southern right-of-way of East South St.; thence westerly 27 feet, more or less, along the southern right-of-
way of East South St.; thence southwest S 27 ˚ W 80 feet, more or less, to the northern right-of-way of Dunkirk 
Ave.; thence northwesterly N 25 ˚W 130 feet, more or less to the intersection with the southerly right-of-way of 
East South St.; thence northwesterly N 44 ˚ 45’ W 27 feet, more or less, to the southeast corner of Lot 6, Block 
44 of Original Plat; thence along the easterly boundary of the Original Plat 153 feet, more or less, to the 
northeast corner of Lot 6, Block 44 of the Original Plat; thence westerly 195 feet, more or less, along the north 
lot lines of Lot 5 and Lot 4, Block 44 of the Original Plat to the easterly right-of-way of South Seventh St.; 
thence westerly 66 feet, more or less, to the westerly right-of-way of South Seventh St. and the northeast corner 
of Lot 8, Block 43 of the Original Plat; thence westerly along the north boundary line of Lot 8, Lot 7, Lot 6, and 
Lot 5, Block 43 of the Original Plat; thence 265 feet, more or less to the northwest corner of Lot 5, Block 43 of 
the Original Plat and the easterly right-of-way of South Sixth St.; thence westerly 66 feet, more or less, to the 
westerly right-of-way of South Sixth St. and the northeast corner of Lot 8, Block 42 of the Original Plat; thence 
westerly 265 feet, more or less, to the northwest corner of Lot 5, Block 42 of the Original Plat and the easterly 
right-of-way of South Fifth St.; thence westerly 66 feet, more or less, to the westerly right-of-way of South Fifth 
St. and the northeast corner of Lot 8, Block 36 of the Original Plat; thence westerly 265 feet, more or less, to the 
northwest corner of Lot 5, Block 36 of the Original Plat and the easterly right-of-way of South Fourth St.; 
thence westerly 66 feet, more or less, to the westerly right-of-way of South Fourth St. thence South, along the 
west right-of-way of Fourth Street, 557 feet, more or less, to the intersection with the northeasterly ordinary 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 8 


high water mark of the Yahara River; thence South across the Yahara River to the southern ordinary high water 
mark and the westerly right-of-way of Fourth St.; thence East, 66 feet to the intersection with the east right-of-
way of said Fourth Street; thence Easterly, along the southerly ordinary high water mark of the Yahara River, to 
the northwest corner of the property described in Volume 746 of Deeds, Page 42 of the Dane County Register 
of Deeds; thence S 2˚05’ W, 365 feet, more or less to the southwest corner of the property described in Volume 
746 of Deeds, Page 42 of the Dane County Register of Deeds; thence S 87˚55’ E, 542.4 feet, more or less, to the 
southeast corner of the  property described in Volume 746 of Deeds, Page 42 of the Dane County Register of 
Deeds; thence N 2˚05’ E, 85 feet, more or less, to the northeast corner of the property described in Volume 746 
of Deeds, Page 42 of the Dane County Register of Deeds and the intersection with the southwesterly ordinary 
high water mark of the Yahara River,; thence Northwesterly along the said southwesterly ordinary high water 
mark of the Yahara River 425 feet, more or less to the intersection of an extension of the easterly right-of-way 
of Eighth St.;  thence northerly 158 feet, more or less, across the Yahara River to the intersection with the 
southwesterly ordinary high water mark of the Yahara River and the easterly right-of-way of Eighth St. and the 
point of beginning. 
 
 
 


All distances are per documents of record. 
 
EXCLUDING all wetlands from the above described lands. 


 


 







[City logo City of Stoughton, Wisconsin                       Tax Incremental Financing 


9 | P a g e  


 


PARCELS INCLUDED IN TID #8 


Parcels in TID #8: 


PIN PARCELNO OWNERS PROPERTYADDRESS Acres 
Land 
Value 


Improvement 
Value 


Total 
Value 


Land 
Value 
per Acre 


Improvement 
Value per 
Acre Blight 


 6  051108110455 KYLE L ERICKSON 421 S SIXTH ST 0.08 $13,900 $109,800 $123,700 $173,750 $1,372,500   


 7  051108110553 L B PROPERTY MANAGEMENT LLC 425 S SIXTH ST 0.12 $24,300 $360,400 $384,700 $195,968 $2,906,452   


 9  051108110660 DIANE C SPROUL 516 E SOUTH ST 0.20 $34,800 $115,800 $150,600 $174,000 $579,000   


 10  051108110777 RUBY M CREWS 526 E SOUTH ST 0.30 $43,400 $126,300 $169,700 $144,667 $421,000   


 11  051108110884 
LARRY R FRANKLIN & AMY L 
FRANKLIN 418 S SEVENTH ST 0.10 $17,400 $105,000 $122,400 $174,000 $1,050,000   


 8  051108111347 
STEVEN L DICKSON & JULIE F 
DICKSON 415 S SEVENTH ST 0.13 $22,700 $84,800 $107,500 $174,615 $652,308   


 15  051108111445 
JASON S BROWN & GAYLE 
WALHELM-BROWN 419 S SEVENTH ST 0.09 $15,700 $112,800 $128,500 $174,444 $1,253,333   


 25  051108111543 NICOLE E EHR 425 S SEVENTH ST 0.09 $13,900 $106,700 $120,600 $173,750 $1,333,750   


 16  051108111650 TERESA L SEAMONSON 616 E SOUTH ST 0.09 $15,700 $104,000 $119,700 $174,444 $1,155,556   


 17  051108111767 Current Owner 416 S ACADEMY ST 0.02 $600 $0 $600 $40,000 $0   


 26  051108111865 EMILY BAHR 624 E SOUTH ST 0.27 $29,600 $108,600 $138,200 $174,118 $638,824   


 35  051108129650 STEVE DICKSON & JULIANA DICKSON 417 S FOURTH ST 0.10 $17,400 $106,900 $124,300 $174,000 $1,069,000   


 42  051108129758 STEVE DICKSON & JULIANA DICKSON 425 S FOURTH ST 0.10 $19,600 $80,600 $100,200 $196,000 $806,000 Y 


 43  051108129865 RICHARD L STIRR & GAIL M STIRR 308 E SOUTH ST 0.20 $34,800 $113,800 $148,600 $174,000 $569,000   


 39  051108129972 TYSON G POOCH 316 E SOUTH ST 0.20 $34,800 $104,300 $139,100 $174,000 $521,500   


 44  051108130086 Current Owner 424 S FIFTH ST 0.07 $13,600 $21,000 $34,600 $194,286 $300,000 Y 


 40  051108130184 RANEY E REEVES III 418 S FIFTH ST 0.13 $22,700 $107,400 $130,100 $174,615 $826,154   


 73  051108139354 JEFFREY JUMP & CONNIE JUMP 415 S FIFTH ST 0.12 $20,900 $138,300 $159,200 $174,167 $1,152,500   


 86  051108139416 CARRIE M BERGMAN 421 S FIFTH ST 0.19 $33,100 $89,100 $122,200 $174,211 $468,947   


 87  051108139461 JUDITH A HUBERD 425 S FIFTH ST 0.10 $19,000 $79,800 $98,800 $195,876 $822,680 Y 


 88  051108139602 Current Owner 416 E SOUTH ST 0.09 $14,800 $50,100 $64,900 $174,118 $589,412   


 89  051108139622 Current Owner 424 S SIXTH ST 0.12 $20,000 $94,500 $114,500 $173,913 $821,739   


 79  051108139685 CATHY L DICKINSON 418 S SIXTH ST 0.20 $34,800 $113,500 $148,300 $174,000 $567,500   


 80  051108143081 ASSOCIATED BANK NA 425 E SOUTH ST 0.26 $43,900 $130,400 $174,300 $60,972 $181,111   







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 10 


PIN PARCELNO OWNERS PROPERTYADDRESS Acres 
Land 
Value 


Improvement 
Value 


Total 
Value 


Land 
Value 
per Acre 


Improvement 
Value per 
Acre Blight 


 81  051108143116 ASSOCIATED BANK NA 425 E SOUTH ST 0.03 $400 $0 $400 $13,333 $0   


 82  051108143198 
STOUGHTON REDEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY 433 E SOUTH ST 0.60 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 Y 


 83  051108143287 
STOUGHTON REDEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY 433 E SOUTH ST 1.99 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 Y 


 90  051108143894 
CAPITAL INVESTMENTS 415 E SOUTH 
ST LLC 415 E SOUTH ST 0.12 $19,200 $89,900 $109,100 $174,545 $817,273   


 84  051108144008 VS OF MADISON LLP 409 E SOUTH ST 0.16 $33,100 $92,200 $125,300 $174,211 $485,263   


 85  051108144115 MASON PARKS 401 E SOUTH ST 0.20 $34,800 $97,500 $132,300 $174,000 $487,500   


 94  051108144222 WILLIAM S DUTER 325 E SOUTH ST 0.20 $34,800 $50,600 $85,400 $174,000 $253,000   


 91  051108144339 
JOHN ROBERT SCOTT & ANGELA 
MARIE UECKER 317 E SOUTH ST 0.20 $34,800 $137,100 $171,900 $174,000 $685,500   


 92  051108144446 STOUGHTON, CITY OF 501 S FOURTH ST 0.40 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0   


 93  051108144624 STOUGHTON, CITY OF 515 S FOURTH ST 1.80 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0   


 96  051108161016 STOUGHTON TRAILERS INC 524 EIGHTH ST 2.02 $82,200 $469,800 $552,000 $40,614 $232,121 Y 


 97  051108161721 W RICHARD GORDON III 621 E SOUTH ST 0.10 $17,400 $93,600 $111,000 $174,000 $936,000   


 95  051108161883 Current Owner 616 EIGHTH ST 0.39 $42,400 $103,700 $146,100 $151,429 $370,357   


 98  051108162097 STOUGHTON, CITY OF 624 EIGHTH ST 0.01 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0   


 99  051108162319 JUAN OLVEDA & LISA OLVEDA 508 DUNKIRK AVE 0.10 $15,700 $88,200 $103,900 $174,444 $980,000   


 100  051108162435 TIMOTHY G FRANK 516 DUNKIRK AVE 0.29 $33,100 $126,200 $159,300 $174,211 $664,211   


 101  051108162533 JIMMY B YOST & ROSE A YOST 532 DUNKIRK AVE 0.20 $34,800 $100,800 $135,600 $174,000 $504,000   


 102  051108162640 
RICHARD H BJORDAHL & NANCEE L 
BJORDAHL 540 DUNKIRK AVE 0.20 $34,800 $102,500 $137,300 $174,000 $512,500   


 103  051108162757 
JOHN R STOKSTAD & SHEILA B 
STOKSTAD 600 DUNKIRK AVE 0.52 $52,000 $145,200 $197,200 $108,333 $302,500   


 109  051108162864 
GORDON A JOHNSON & SHERRY L 
JOHNSON 616 DUNKIRK AVE 0.20 $0 $0 $0   


Values w/ PIN 
135   


 104  051108163292 
SIGMUND A OLSON & CAROLYN M 
OLSON 609 EIGHTH ST 0.20 $34,800 $124,200 $159,000 $174,000 $621,000   


 110  051108163407 JOSEPH G BAWULSKI 601 EIGHTH ST 0.20 $34,800 $79,100 $113,900 $174,000 $395,500   


 105  051108163514 SHEIL PROPERTIES LLC 525 EIGHTH ST 0.31 $58,000 $217,400 $275,400 $195,286 $731,987   


 111  051108163621 
LARRY B HAWKINS & BRENT A 
HAWKINS 517 EIGHTH ST 0.18 $29,600 $95,700 $125,300 $174,118 $562,941   


 112  051108163747 TERRY RIGDON & SHEILA M RIGDON 500 DUNKIRK AVE 0.15 $13,100 $0 $13,100 $87,333 $0   


 106  051108163845 
TERRY J RIGDON & SHEILA M 
RIGDON 500 DUNKIRK AVE 0.15 $24,400 $150,800 $175,200 $174,286 $1,077,143   







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 11 


PIN PARCELNO OWNERS PROPERTYADDRESS Acres 
Land 
Value 


Improvement 
Value 


Total 
Value 


Land 
Value 
per Acre 


Improvement 
Value per 
Acre Blight 


 107  051108165012 
TIMOTHY D THOMAS & CAROL L 
THOMAS 509 S SEVENTH ST 0.24 $32,600 $122,300 $154,900 $148,182 $555,909   


 113  051108165138 STOUGHTON TRAILERS INC 524 EIGHTH ST 1.18 $54,100 $1,200 $55,300 $45,742 $1,015 Y 


 108  051108165227 
CITY OF STOUGHTON 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 501 E SOUTH ST 2.23 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 Y 


 114  051108165316 GREEN ANGEL LLC 517 S SEVENTH ST 0.12 $19,200 $78,700 $97,900 $174,545 $715,455   


 115  051108165629 
STOUGHTON REDEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY 433 E SOUTH ST 0.66 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 Y 


 116  051108166646 
STOUGHTON REDEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY 433 E SOUTH ST 0.26 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 Y 


 117  051108167136 
STOUGHTON REDEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY 433 E SOUTH ST 1.88 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 Y 


 118  051108167672 
STOUGHTON REDEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY 433 E SOUTH ST 0.89 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 Y 


 129  051108195703 PEARL G KITTLESON 617 E SOUTH ST 0.17 $26,100 $125,300 $151,400 $174,000 $835,333   


 130  051108195801 JENNIFER HARRIS 609 E SOUTH ST 0.12 $19,200 $124,100 $143,300 $174,545 $1,128,182   


 132  051108197952 
STOUGHTON PUBLIC SCHOOLS JT 
SCHOOL DIST NO 3 600 MANDT PKWY 3.08 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 Y 


 135  051108199709 
GORDON A JOHNSON & SHERRY L 
JOHNSON 616 DUNKIRK AVE 0.20 $34,800 $138,700 $173,500 $174,000 $693,500   


Source: 2017 Parcel Data, Dane County Land Information 
Office; GWB Professional Services Total 25.3 $1,411,600 $5,518,700 $6,930,300   Acres Blighted 15.1 


         % of Area 59.5% 


     







[City logo City of Stoughton, Wisconsin                       Tax Incremental Financing 


12 | P a g e  


 


STATEMENT OF KIND, NUMBER AND LOCATION OF PROPOSED PUBLIC WORKS 
 
TID #8 is a blight-elimination district. A blight study was prepared in 2009. The property found to be blighted by the 
Stoughton City Council at that time has not been substantially improved and in many cases has experienced further 
deterioration.  
 
Costs directly or indirectly related to achieving the objectives of blight elimination and redevelopment are 
considered project costs and eligible to be paid from tax increments of this district.  Public investment in the 
riverfront redevelopment area will consist of the assembly of blighted property, demolition of structures, remediation 
of environmental contamination, financial assistance to developers, improving streets, sidewalks, electric, sewer, 
water; creating a Riverwalk trail and park, establishing a whitewater park and otherwise promoting the orderly 
development of blighted and underutilized property. 
 
Listed below are major public improvement categories, which are necessary and standard improvements for 
eliminating blight and promoting redevelopment of blighted areas.  Table #2 summarizes total costs by category.  
Appendix B contains financial attachments which show the estimated timing and financing for proposed public 
works and TID expenditures.   
 
All costs listed are based on 2018 preliminary estimates. Contingency costs are included for most cost categories The 
City reserves the right to revise these cost estimates to reflect unforeseen circumstances between 2018 and the time 
of construction or implementation, such as a higher than anticipated inflation rate or financing costs that vary from 
projections due to market conditions at the time of a bond issuance.  The City should pursue grant programs to help 
share project costs included in this project plan, as appropriate.   
 
The City may fund specific project cost items shown below in greater or lesser amounts in response to opportunities 
that will help the City accomplish the purposes of TID #8.  The City will generally use overall benefit to the City and 
economic feasibility (i.e. the availability of future revenue to support additional project costs) in determining the 
actual budget for project cost items over the course of the TID’s expenditure period.  


Table #2: City of Stoughton TID #8 Planned Project Costs 


Proposed Improvements Total Cost Others’ 
Share TID Share 


A. Capital Costs $6,977,048 $1,998,356 $4,978,692 
B.  Property Assembly Costs $2,500,000 $0 $2,500,000 
C. Cash Grants $7,500,000 $0 $7,500,000 
D. Professional Services $600,000 $0 $600,000 
E.  Discretionary Payments $250,000 $0 $250,000 
G.  Administration Costs   $100,000 $0 $100,000 
H.  TIF Organizational Costs $33,500 $0 $33,500 
    Inflation  $132,000 $0 $132,000 
Subtotal $18,092,548 $1,998,356 $16,094,191 
K.  Financing Costs (less Capitalized Interest) $4,593,106 
     Capitalized Interest $657,261 
Total TID Expenditure  $22,386,437 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 13 


 
 


A. Capital Costs 
Including, but not limited to, the actual costs of construction and improvement of public works, new 
buildings, structures, and fixtures; the demolition, alteration, remodeling, repair or reconstruction of existing 
buildings, structures and fixtures other than the demolition of listed historic properties, environmental 
remediation, the clearing of land and the acquisition of equipment to service the district. 
 
Site development activities required to make sites suitable for development including, but not limited to, 
environmental studies and remediation, stripping topsoil, grading, compacted granular fill, topsoil 
replacement, access drives, parking areas, landscaping, storm water detention areas, demolition of existing 
structures, relocating utility lines and other infrastructure, utilities, signs, fencing, and related activities.  Site 
development activities to serve the property such as installation of sanitary sewer, water, storm sewer, 
natural gas, electric, telecommunications and other utility connections. Funding is included to assist with 
mitigation of odors from the Uniroyal plant on the eastern boundary of the TID. These odors can be 
obnoxious and will likely impact redevelopment of the site unless mitigated. 
 
Also included as capital costs are that portion of costs related to the construction or alteration of sewerage 
treatment plants, water treatment plants or other environmental protection devices, storm or sanitary sewer 
lines, storm water management facilities, water lines, or amenities on streets or the rebuilding or expansion 
of streets the construction, alteration, rebuilding or expansion of which is necessitated by the project plan 
and is within the district.  Capital costs may also be installed outside of the district, if required to implement 
the project plan, but only the portion which directly benefits the district is an eligible cost. 
 
$5 million is budgeted for capital costs which are expected to be located throughout the district. Some 
capital costs such as the whitewater park and most of the internal roads and storm water facilities are 
expected to be paid by the developer or other non-TID source. Applications will be made for grant funds. It 
is unknown at this time which grants will be successful and specifically what expenditures they will cover. 
 


A. Proper ty Assembly Costs 
This may include but is not limited to fee title, easements, appraisals, environmental evaluations, consultant 
and broker fees, closing costs, surveying and mapping, and the deficit caused by the lease and/or the sale of 
property at below market price to encourage or make feasible a redevelopment project.  This could also 
include the cost to relocate existing businesses or residents to allow redevelopment. 


 
$2.5 million is budgeted for property assembly costs for this TID. 
 


B. Cash Grants 
The City may provide cash grant incentives to developers and businesses to promote and stimulate new 
development and housing rehabilitation within TID #8.  The City may enter into agreements with property 
owners, businesses, developers or non-profit organizations for sharing costs to encourage the desired types 
of improvements.  In such cases, the City will execute development agreements with property owners, 
developers and/or businesses, which will identify the type and amount of assistance to be provided.  


 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 14 


The City may provide funds either directly or through the Redevelopment Authority to make capital 
available to property owners, business and developers to stimulate or enable economic and housing 
development projects within TID #8.  Funds may be provided in the form of a cash grant, forgivable loan, 
direct loan or loan guarantee.  Such funds may be provided at terms appropriate to, and as demonstrated to 
be required by the proposed economic development and or housing project and shall be set forth in a 
development agreement.   
 
$7.5 million is budgeted for cash grants.  Examples of types of expenditures cash grants may be used toward 
include: enhanced storm water management, environmental cleanup/remediation, building demolition and 
site preparation, remediation of poor soils, infrastructure, structured parking, development of public space 
and enhanced design and landscaping.   
 


C. Professional Services 
Including, but not limited to, those costs incurred for architectural, planning, engineering, accounting, 
consulting, sales and legal advice related to implementing the project plan, negotiating with property owners 
and developers, and planning for the redevelopment of the area. 


 
$600,000 is budgeted for professional services.   


D. Discretionary Payments 
Payments made, at the discretion of the local legislative body, which are found to be necessary or 
convenient to the creation of tax incremental districts or the implementation of project plans.  This could 
include expenditures to fund RDA programs to eliminate blight, improve housing stock, remove social 
obstacles to development, provide labor force training, or neighborhood improvements to improve the 
quality of life or safety of the residents, workers, or visitors and other payments which are necessary or 
convenient to the implementation of this project plan. 


 
$250,000 is budgeted for discretionary payments expected to be dedicated to RDA funding for 
redevelopment services to the TID.  RDA funds may be used by the RDA for any of the discretionary items 
described above, or other items such as TID administration and professional services, as described 
elsewhere in this list of proposed public works.   


 


E. Administration Costs 
Administrative costs including, but not limited to, a reasonable portion of the salaries of the City 
Administrator, Building Inspector, Attorney, Finance Director, Auditor, Assessor, Public Works employees, 
City Engineer, RDA staff, consultants and others directly involved with planning and administering the 
projects and the overall District on behalf of the City or RDA. 
 
Approximately $100,000 is budgeted for TID administration costs.    


 


F. TIF Organizational Costs 
Organization costs including, but not limited to, the fees of the financial consultant, attorney, engineers, 
planners, community development consultants, surveyors, map makers, environmental consultants, 
appraisers and other contracted services related to the planning and creation of the TID.  This shall include 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 15 


the preparation of feasibility studies, project plans, engineering to determine project costs and prepare plans, 
maps, legal services, environmental investigations, grant applications, regulatory approvals and other 
payments made which are necessary or convenient to the creation of this tax incremental district.  Also 
included as an eligible administrative cost is the $1,000 Certification Fee charged by the Wisconsin 
Department of Revenue. 
 
$33,500 is budgeted for this item. 
 


G. Financing Costs 
Including, but not limited to, all interest paid to holders of evidences of indebtedness issued to pay for 
project costs and any premium paid over the principal amount of the obligations because of the redemption 
of the obligations prior to maturity. 
 
Approximately $5.6 million is budgeted for financing costs, including capitalized interest costs.  The actual 
amount of financing costs will be determined by the timing of bond issuances and market conditions at the 
time of issuance.   


 
The projects listed above will provide necessary facilities and support to enable and encourage the development 
of TID #8.  These projects may be implemented in varying degrees in response to development needs.  Project 
costs may be expended up to one-half mile outside the TID #8 boundaries provided that the expenditures benefit 
the TID.  The cost estimates above may be adjusted for inflation at the time they are incurred.  Map #5 in 
Appendix A shows the location of public works that are planned as part of this TID.  
 
  
 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 16 


 


 


  


Former Carpet Warehouse building. 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 17 


 
 


ECONOMIC FEASIBILITY STUDY 
To evaluate the economic feasibility of the TID, it is necessary to project the amount of tax incremental revenue 
that can reasonably be generated from the district.  The ability of the municipality to finance proposed projects 
must also be determined.  TID #8 is economically feasible if the tax incremental revenue projected to be 
generated over the life of the TID is sufficient to pay all project and financing costs incurred during the TID’s 
expenditure period.  The components of such an analysis include: 


A. The expected increase in property valuation due to inflation and the impact of general economic 
conditions on the TID. 


B. The expected increase in property valuation due to new development encouraged by the TID. 
C. Any change that may take place in the full value tax rate. 
D. The expected TID revenues. 
E. The expected TID cash flow (the timing of the revenue). 


 
Following is a discussion of these components.  Financing issues are discussed in the next section. 
 
A. Inflation 


Throughout the past ten years, the annual rate of inflation in the construction industry has averaged 1.3 
percent (source: Engineering News-Record Construction Cost Index History - 
http://enr.construction.com/cost/costcci.asp).  Appreciation of land values in the proposed TID area have 
been nominal due in part to the number of blighted parcels in the area.  The property appreciation rate, for 
making projections of equalized value, will be 0.5 percent. Inflation for purposes of projecting future project 
costs is assumed to be 1.3 percent. Most of the infrastructure and site development work is expected to 
occur within five years. $132,000 has been budgeted for inflation in construction costs over the next five 
years. 


 
B. Increase in Property Value 


The proposed plan for TID #8 includes the redevelopment or 
rehabilitation of parcels within the TID (Table #1).  The formation of 
TID #8 will enable the City to make improvements in public works and 
provide developer incentives that will stimulate redevelopment in the 
area.  This new investment will create increased property valuation.  
The value of anticipated redevelopment is shown in Attachment #7 in 
Appendix B.  Redevelopment values were estimated using 
redevelopment scenarios developed in a community design charrette in 
July 2017.  


 
C. Full Value Tax Rate 
  The third variable to consider in projecting TID revenues is the full 


value tax rate (Table #3). The full value tax rate is adjusted annually 
based on property valuation and the amount of funds required by all 
taxing jurisdictions to support their adopted annual budgets.   The 
following chart summarizes the historic full value tax rate in the City 
between 2007 and 2017. 


 


Table #3: Full Value 
Effective Tax Rate 


Year Mill Rate/ 
$1,000 


Percent 
Change 


2007 0.01714  
2008 0.01718 0.23% 
2009 0.01844 7.33% 
2010 0.01976 7.16% 
2011 0.02098 6.17% 
2012 0.02294 9.34% 
2013 0.02345 2.22% 
2014 0.02247 -4.18% 
2015 0.02242 -0.22% 
2016 0.02213 -1.29% 


Source: Wisconsin Department of 
Revenue, Town, Village and City 
Taxes. 


 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 18 


0


200,000


400,000


600,000


800,000


1,000,000


1,200,000


1,400,000


1,600,000


1,800,000


20
18


20
19


20
20


20
21


20
22


20
23


20
24


20
25


20
26


20
27


20
28


20
29


20
30


20
31


20
32


20
33


20
34


20
35


20
36


20
37


20
38


20
39


20
40


20
41


20
42


20
43


20
44


D
ol


la
rs


Year


Projected Revenue and Expenditures TID #8


Revenues Expenditures


 The full value rate has dropped between 2013 and 2016.  For our purposes, the 2016 tax rate of $22.13 per 
$1,000 with a 0% change will be used in this project plan to project TID revenues.  This mill rate considers 
property tax levies from the School District, City, County, and Technical College.  The 0% change will 
provide a conservative estimate since an increase in the full value tax rate would result in an increase in tax 
increment for the District. 


   
D. TIF Revenues 


A projected construction increments of approximately $60 million (not including property appreciation) is 
expected over the life of TID #8.  The projected TIF Revenue from TID #8 will be as shown in the Tax 
Increment Proforma in Attachment #4 of Appendix B.  The tax increment will generate approximately $23 
million in tax incremental revenue over the life of the district. The total tax increment revenue is sufficient 
to pay all TID related costs of approximately $22 million for the projects and amounts shown in the Planned 
Project Costs in Attachment #1 of Appendix B. 


 
E. Cash Flow 


Another consideration regarding the adequacy of TID revenues toward paying TID project costs is the 
relative timing of revenue and expenditures, or cash flow. There are sufficient TID revenues over the life of 
the TID to pay all costs.  However, in some years there will be insufficient TID revenues to pay all costs.  
The City may structure its borrowing to match debt service payments in any given year to the revenue 
generated by the TID, or it may use cash reserves to loan general revenue funds to the TID or it may borrow 
additional funds to pay interest expense on borrowings (capitalized interest) to bridge temporary cash flow 
gaps caused by the two year lag in collecting tax revenue on new increment. The Tax Increment Cash Flow 
Worksheet shown on Attachment #5 summarizes the assumed cash flow. 


 


 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 19 


DETAILED LIST OF PROJECT COSTS 
      % Paid By Allocated 


 Type of Expenditure Amount TID Other to Project 
A Capital Cost - Infrastructure      
  Riverwalk 1,450 feet x 12' wide, paved $320,000 100% 0% $320,000  
  Pedestrian Bridge $382,000 100% 0% $382,000  
  Riverbank Restoration $224,398 100% 0% $224,398  
  Whitewater Park1 $704,475 25% -75% $176,119  
  ADA Fishing Pier/Facility $30,000 100% 0% $30,000  
  Lift Station $250,000 100% 0% $250,000  
  Bury Electric Power Lines, E. South St. $400,000 100% 0% $400,000  
  Internal Roads (1,300')2 $520,000 0% -100% $0  
  Storm Water Management Facilities2 $500,000 0% -100% $0  
  E. South St. Improvements $200,000 100% 0% $200,000  
  4th St. Improvements $200,000 100% 0% $200,000  
  Contingency/Unknown Infrastructure $746,175 100% 0% $746,175  


  Total Infrastructure $4,477,048  65% 35% $2,928,692  
        
B. Capital Cost - Site Development      
  Highway Trailer Demolition $900,000 100% 0% $900,000  
  Stoughton Trailer Demolition $50,000 100% 0% $50,000  
  Residential Demolition $20,000 100% 0% $20,000  
  Public Works Garage Demolition $200,000 100% 0% $200,000  


  
Public Works Environmental 
Testing/Remediation $100,000 100% 0% $100,000  


  Demolition of Carpet Warehouse $60,000 100% 0% $60,000  
 Mitigation of Uniroyal Odors 500,000 10% -90% $50,000 
  Contingency $640,000 100% 0% $640,000 


  Total Site Development $2,500,000  82% 18% $2,050,000  
            
C. Property Assembly Costs         
  Highway Trailer Site $150,000 100% 0% $150,000  
  Sale of Highway Trailer Site to Developer -$1 100% 0% ($1) 
  MillFab $750,531 100% 0% $750,531  
  Sale of MillFab Site to Developer -$1 100% 0% ($1) 
  Carpet Warehouse/Roberts Auto $150,000 100% 0% $150,000  
  Sale of Carpet Warehouse to Developer -$1 100% 0% ($1) 
  Public Works Garage $0 100% 0% $0  
  Sale of PW Garage Site to Developer -$1 100% 0% ($1) 
  Stoughton Trailer Warehouse & Lot $950,000 100% 0% $950,000  


  Sale of ST Warehouse & Lot to Developer -$1 100% 0% ($1) 


  8th St. Single-Family Property $170,000 100% 0% $170,000 


  
Sale of 8th St. Single-Family Property to 
Developer -$1 100% 0% -$1 


  Contingency $329,475 100% 0% $329,475 


  Total Property Assembly $2,500,000  100% 0% $2,500,000  
        
D. Cash Grants      
  Developer TIF Incentives (PAYGO) $7,500,000  100% 0% $7,500,000  
    $0  100% 0% $0  


  Total Cash Grants $7,500,000  100% 0% $7,500,000  
      % Paid By Allocated 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 20 


 Type of Expenditure Amount TID Other to Project 
E. Professional Services      
  Planning - Future Costs $450,000  100% 0% $450,000  
  Attorney - Future Costs $80,000  100% 0% $80,000  
  Auditor - Future Costs $40,500  100% 0% $40,500  
  Contingency $14,500  100% 0% $14,500  


  Total Professional Services $600,000  100% 0% $600,000  
        
F. Discretionary Payments      
  RDA Funds $250,000  100% 0% $250,000  
    $0  100% 0% $0  


  Total Discretionary Payments $250,000  100% 0% $250,000  
        
G Administration Costs      
  City Staff $100,000  100% 0% $100,000  


  Total Administration Costs $100,000  100% 0% $100,000  
        
H Organizational Costs       
  Department of Revenue Submittal Fee $1,000  100% 0% $1,000  
  Professional Fees $30,000  100% 0% $30,000  
  City Staff & Publishing $2,500  100% 0% $2,500  


  Total Organization Costs $33,500  100% 0% $33,500  
        
  Inflation $132,000  100% 0% $132,000  
  Total Project Costs $18,092,548  89% 11% $16,094,191  
        
I Financing Costs      
  Interest, Fin. Fees, Less Cap. Interest    $4,953,106  
  Plus Capitalized Interest    $657,261  


  Total Financing Costs       $5,610,368  
        
TOTAL TID EXPENDITURE       $21,704,559  
     
1This is a Stoughton Parks Department project that shares the need to restore and enhance the Yahara riverbank. The TID costs 
are the estimated portion of the improvements attributed to the areas outside the TID. The Parks Department will be responsible for 
securing the remaining funds. 
2 The developer will be responsible for the cost of internal streets and storm water facilities.  


 


    







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 21 


FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS 
Base Value $6,930,300    


Tax Rate 0.02213 For County, City, Technical College, and School District 


Property Appreciation Rate 0.50% For Existing Construction 


Annual Change in Tax Rate 0.00%   


Construction Inflation Rate 1.30% For New Construction After 2018 


          
          
  Previous Inflation TIF Increment Total Cumulative TIF Tax   TIF  


Year Valuation Increment Construction Land Valuation Increment Rate  Revenue 
2018 $6,930,300  $0  $0  $0  $6,930,300  $0  0.022130   $0  


2019 $6,930,300  $34,652  $0  $0  $6,964,952  $34,652  0.022130  $0  


2020 $6,964,952  $34,825  $4,050,000  $202,500  $7,202,276  $271,976  0.022130  $0  


2021 $7,202,276  $36,011  $5,894,017  $294,701  $11,582,988  $4,652,688  0.022130  $767  


2022 $11,582,988  $57,915  $6,397,114  $319,856  $17,854,776  $10,924,476  0.022130  $6,019  


2023 $17,854,776  $89,274  $6,221,065  $311,053  $24,652,217  $17,721,917  0.022130  $102,964  


2024 $24,652,217  $123,261  $4,619,477  $230,974  $31,227,517  $24,297,217  0.022130  $241,759  


2025 $31,227,517  $156,138  $0  $0  $36,003,131  $29,072,831  0.022130  $392,186  


2026 $36,003,131  $180,016  $0  $0  $40,802,624  $33,872,324  0.022130  $537,697  


2027 $40,802,624  $204,013  $5,499,541  $274,977  $41,281,614  $34,351,314  0.022130  $643,382  


2028 $41,281,614  $206,408  $0  $0  $46,987,563  $40,057,263  0.022130  $749,595  


2029 $46,987,563  $234,938  $2,624,623  $131,231  $47,353,732  $40,423,432  0.022130  $760,195  


2030 $47,353,732  $236,769  $0  $0  $50,215,123  $43,284,823  0.022130  $886,467  


2031 $50,215,123  $251,076  $5,797,352  $289,868  $50,756,067  $43,825,767  0.022130  $894,571  


2032 $50,756,067  $253,780  $0  $0  $56,807,199  $49,876,899  0.022130  $957,893  


2033 $56,807,199  $284,036  $5,898,994  $294,950  $57,386,184  $50,455,884  0.022130  $969,864  


2034 $57,386,184  $286,931  $0  $0  $63,572,109  $56,641,809  0.022130  $1,103,776  


2035 $63,572,109  $317,861  $1,023,467  $51,173  $63,941,143  $57,010,843  0.022130  $1,116,589  


2036 $63,941,143  $319,706  $0  $0  $65,284,316  $58,354,016  0.022130  $1,253,483  


2037 $65,284,316  $326,422  $8,351,387  $417,569  $66,028,307  $59,098,007  0.022130  $1,261,650  


2038 $66,028,307  $330,142  $0  $0  $74,709,835  $67,779,535  0.022130  $1,291,374  


2039 $74,709,835  $373,549  $1,077,734  $53,887  $75,137,271  $68,206,971  0.022130  $1,307,839  


2040 $75,137,271  $375,686  $0  $0  $76,590,691  $69,660,391  0.022130  $1,499,961  


2041 $76,590,691  $382,953  $0  $0  $76,973,645  $70,043,345  0.022130  $1,509,420  


2042 $76,973,645  $384,868  $0  $0  $77,358,513  $70,428,213  0.022130  $1,541,584  


2043 $77,358,513  $386,793  $0  $0  $77,745,305  $70,815,005  0.022130  $1,550,059  


2044 $77,745,305  $388,727  $0  $0  $78,134,032  $71,203,732  0.022130  $1,558,576  


Total   $6,256,747  $57,454,770  $2,872,738          $22,137,670  


 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 22 


    Revenues Expenses   


Balance  


    
Capital 


Interest & 
Debt 


Reserve 


          Developer Cash Annual 


  Beginning TIF Interest   Total  Debt Payments Payments Surplus 


Year Balance Revenues Income Other Revenues Service 15%   (Deficit) 


2018 0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  $0  0  0  


2019 0  0  0  0  0  0  0  0  $30,712  (30,712) (30,712) 


2020 (30,712) 0  0  0  0  0  0  0  $30,712  (30,712) (61,423) 


2021 (61,423) 0  767  0  0  767  0  0  $30,712  (29,945) (91,368) 


2022 (91,368) 328,631  6,019  0  0  334,650  328,631  0  $30,712  (24,693) (116,060) 


2023 (116,060) 328,631  102,964  0  0  431,595  328,631  28,354  $30,712  43,899  (72,162) 


2024 (72,162) 328,631  241,759  0  0  570,389  328,631  71,681  $30,712  139,367  67,205  


2025 67,205  0  392,186  1,344  0  393,530  604,531  121,181  $30,712  (362,893) (295,688) 


2026 (295,688) 0  537,697  0  0  537,697  604,531  171,993  $30,712  (269,537) (565,225) 


2027 (565,225) 0  643,382  0  0  643,382  604,531  211,943  $30,712  (203,803) (769,028) 


2028 (769,028) 0  749,595  0  0  749,595  604,531  211,943  $30,712  (97,590) (866,619) 


2029 (866,619) 0  760,195  0  0  760,195  604,531  211,943  $30,712  (86,990) (953,609) 


2030 (953,609) 0  886,467  0  0  886,467  604,531  269,696  $30,712  (18,471) (972,080) 


2031 (972,080) 0  894,571  0  0  894,571  604,531  269,696  $30,712  (10,367) (982,447) 


2032 (982,447) 0  957,893  0  0  957,893  604,531  301,852  $30,712  20,799  (961,647) 


2033 (961,647) 0  969,864  0  0  969,864  604,531  301,852  $30,712  32,771  (928,877) 


2034 (928,877) 0  1,103,776  0  0  1,103,776  604,531  387,084  $30,712  81,450  (847,427) 


2035 (847,427) 0  1,116,589  0  0  1,116,589  604,531  387,084  $30,712  94,263  (753,165) 


2036 (753,165) 0  1,253,483  0  0  1,253,483  604,531  495,492  $30,712  122,749  (630,416) 


2037 (630,416) 0  1,261,650  0  0  1,261,650  604,531  495,492  $30,712  130,916  (499,500) 


2038 (499,500) 0  1,291,374  0  0  1,291,374  604,531  520,571  $30,712  135,562  (363,938) 


2039 (363,938) 0  1,307,839  0  0  1,307,839  604,531  520,571  $30,712  152,026  (211,912) 


2040 (211,912) 0  1,499,961  0  0  1,499,961  604,531  520,571  $30,712  344,148  132,236  


2041 132,236  0  1,509,420  2,645  0  1,512,065  604,531  520,571  $30,712  356,252  488,489  


2042 488,489  0  1,541,584  9,770  0  1,551,354  604,531  520,571  $30,712  395,542  884,030  


2043 884,030  0  1,550,059  17,681  0  1,567,740  604,531  520,571  $30,712  411,927  1,295,957  


2044 1,295,957  0  1,558,576  25,919  0  1,584,495  604,531  520,571  $280,712  178,683  1,474,640  


Total   985,892  22,137,670  57,358  0  23,180,921  13,076,505  7,581,276  1,048,500  1,474,640    
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 23 


DESCRIPTION OF FINANCING METHODS AND TIMEFRAME 
B. Financing Methods 


An important aspect to consider in assessing the economic feasibility of TID #8 is the ability of the City to 
finance desired projects to encourage development.  Financial resources available to the City include general 
obligation notes and bonds, revenue bonds, special assessments, and federal and state community 
development programs.  


   
General obligations of the City are limited by state law to five percent of the equalized property value.  As of 
December 31, 2017, the City’s equalized property value was $1,065,541,100. Five percent of this value yields 
approximately $53.2 million debt capacity. The City of Stoughton has an outstanding debt of $29,257,922.  
The remaining debt capacity is about $24 million.  There is approximately $17 million in anticipated project 
costs within the TID.  Not all anticipated project costs will need to be borrowed.  For example, TID 
administration costs can be paid out of City operating funds and reimbursed from the TID when funds are 
available.  Cash grants to developers may be paid on a pay-as-you-go (PAYGO) basis. Other expenses can be 
paid out of TID cash flow as projects are constructed, assessed, and begin paying property taxes. 
Approximately $9 million of new debt will be required to implement the project plan for TID #8 – well within 
the City’s debt capacity. 


    
The City’s borrowing capacity means it can finance project costs through direct debt or bond instruments, 
utilizing the general revenue capacity of the City to secure those instruments.  There are other mechanisms 
available to pay for some project costs that would not count against the City’s constitutional debt capacity.  
“Developer-Financed TIF” is one of these options, where the developer borrows funds that the City would 
have borrowed under a traditional TIF and is then reimbursed by the City as the taxes from the development 
are paid (PAYGO).  Another option is to use the Redevelopment Authority’s ability to issue bonds rather than 
the City.   


    
The City may also utilize revenue bonds repaid from fees for services charged by the City. Common examples 
of such revenue are charges for sewer and water usage.  There is no statutory limit on the amount of revenue 
bonds that can be issued; however, the City must demonstrate the ability to repay the debt from anticipated 
revenues. A factor that could limit revenues is that utility rates are regulated. 


 
Some project costs can potentially be paid through special assessments levied on properties directly benefiting 
from the improvements.  Costs of streets, curbs, gutters, and sewer and water extensions are commonly paid 
through special assessments.  The City can issue special assessment bonds, pledging revenues from the special 
assessments on individual properties to repay the debt.  Property owners are generally permitted to pay the 
special assessments in installments.  These bonds are not counted against the City's constitutional debt limit.  
 
A financing method for energy systems is the Property-Assessed Clean Energy (PACE) program. This 
program is authorized by state statute and implemented on a county-by-county basis. Dane County has chosen 
to implement the program. The program allows energy systems to be financed by a lender, who is then able 
to place the debt-service payments on the property tax bill. This mechanism allows lenders to offer longer-
term financing, reducing annual debt service payments and improving cash flow. The City of Stoughton will 
consider partnering with developers and lenders to offer PACE financing for energy systems installed within 
TID #8. 
 
 


 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 24 


C. Timetable 
The maximum life of the TID is twenty-seven years; a three-year extension may be requested.  The City of 
Stoughton has a maximum of twenty-two years, until 2037 to incur TIF expenses for the projects outlined in 
this plan.  The City Council and RDA are not mandated to make the improvements defined in this plan; each 
project will require case-by-case review and approval.  The decision to proceed with a project will be based 
on the economic conditions and budgetary constraints at the time a project is scheduled for consideration.  
Actual implementation of the projects may be accelerated or deferred, depending on conditions existing at the 
time.   


 
Timing for each of the planned redevelopment projects is shown in the TID Pro Forma (Attachment #4 in 
Appendix B) and TID Cash Flow (Attachment #5 in Appendix B) worksheets. 


 
D. Financing Methods and Costs to be Incurred 


Financing for the projects shown above will be done as shown in the Financing Summary and the Debt Service 
plans for the borrowing shown in Attachments #2 and #3 in Appendix B.  The actual number, timing, and 
amounts of debt issues will be determined by the City at its convenience and as dictated by the nature of the 
projects as they are implemented.  All monetary obligations will be incurred within the twenty-two-year 
expenditure period, unless relocation requires extending beyond the given period. 
 


E. 12% Test 
Wis. Stats. §66.1105(4)(gm)4.c states that the equalized value of taxable property of the new TID plus the 
value increments of all existing districts cannot exceed 12 percent of the total equalized value of the taxable 
property within the municipality.  The charts below use values contained in the Wisconsin Department of 
Revenue’s 2017 TIF Value Limitation Report.   


Table 4: TID Capacity 


Equalized Value % 
Maximum TID 


Capacity*  
$1,065,541,100 x 12% $127,864,920 


* New TIDs cannot be created or properties added 
to existing TIDs if this level is exceeded. 


 
Table 5: Existing & Proposed TID Equalized 


Values 
Active & Proposed TIDs Increment 


TID #3 $20,599,100 
TID #4 $7,644,300 
TID #5 ($1,815,400) 
TID #6 ($10,000) 
TID #7 $17,426,500 


Subtotal $43,844,500 
Base Value TID #8 $6,930,300 


Grand Total $50,774,800 
TID % 4.8% 


 
The City follows the statutory equalized value test for TID creation.    







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 25 


PROPOSED CHANGES IN ZONING ORDINANCES, MASTER PLAN, BUILDING CODES, MAP AND CITY ORDINANCES 
 
The City’s zoning ordinance and other City ordinances are required to implement this project plan.  This project 
plan is feasible with no zoning changes. However, it is expected that a master developer will request rezoning the 
riverfront redevelopment area from the current MR-24 (high density multi-family residential) to planned 
development zoning. Individual redevelopment proposals may require changes in zoning designation consistent 
with the intent of this Plan.  Zoning is shown on Map #6 in Appendix A.  There are multiple zoning districts used 
within the TID boundary.  Redevelopment proposals will have to go through the appropriate procedure to receive 
the proper zoning for their project.  No changes are proposed in the Comprehensive (Master) Plan, Official Map, 
or Building Codes as part of this Plan.   


 


LIST OF NON-PROJECT COSTS 
 
Certain types of projects that may need to be incurred may not be eligible project costs. Such costs include: 


• The construction or expansion of municipal administrative buildings, police and fire buildings, libraries, 
community and recreational buildings and school buildings; 


• General government operating expenses unrelated to the TID development; 
• Cash grants to developers without a signed development agreement. 


The public works garage for the City of Stoughton is in the TID and is scheduled to be replaced by a new 
facility at a different location. This site is part of the riverfront redevelopment area expected to be made 
available to a master developer. No TID expenditures may be made that would benefit the new public works 
garage. 
 
Additionally, some projects may be built that benefit some property in the TID and some property outside of the 
TID. In such cases, an allocation of costs would need to be made proportionate to the relative benefit inside and 
outside the TID. Examples of such projects include: 
An interceptor sewer serving property both in and out of the TID – although the interceptor may be located 
entirely within the TID, it serves the entire city or portion of the city, therefore the cost charged to the TID 
should be the proportionate share that the TID has of the flow through the interceptor. 
Costs paid other funds – for example, special assessments levied against property owners or user fees or impact 
fees. 
 
The City of Stoughton is planning a whitewater park in the Yahara River within TID #8. This park will benefit 
the entire City. Additionally, park impact fees may be used to pay some of the costs. TID #8 cannot pay the 
entire cost of the whitewater park. However, the bank of the Yahara River bordering the redevelopment area 
needs to be restored and improved which is a direct benefit to the TID. That is also a need of the whitewater 
park. The City estimates that approximately 25% of the cost of the whitewater park directly benefits TID #8.  
 
No other non-project costs are expected to be incurred by the City in relation to the TID development. 
 
 
 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 26 


PROPOSED PLAN FOR RELOCATING ANY DISPLACED PERSONS OR BUSINESSES 
 
Although relocation is currently not anticipated, it is possible that it will be necessary to implement projects 
proposed during the life of TID #8.  If relocation were to become necessary, the City or Redevelopment Authority 
would follow Wisconsin state statues covering displacement or relocation as the result of public projects.  Before 
negotiations begin for the acquisition of property or easements, all property owners will be contacted to determine 
if there will be displaced persons as defined by Wisconsin Statues and Administrative Rules.  If it appears there 
will be displaced persons, all property owners and prospective displaced persons will be provided an informational 
pamphlet prepared by the Wisconsin Department of Administration (WDOA).  If any person is to be displaced 
because of the acquisition they will be given a pamphlet on "Relocation Benefits" as prepared by the WDOA. 
The City will file a relocation plan with the WDOA and shall keep records as required in Wisconsin Statutes 
32.27.  The City will provide each owner a full narrative appraisal, a map showing the owners of all property 
affected by the proposed project and a list of neighboring landowners to whom offers are being made as required 
by law. 
 


HOW THE TID PROMOTES THE ORDERLY DEVELOPMENT OF THE MUNICIPALITY 
 
This TID promotes the orderly development of the City of Stoughton because it will eliminate blight, improve 
contaminated property and place unproductive property – all located in the heart of the City - back on the City 
tax rolls. The development of TID #8 will result in approximately 250 new housing units located within three 
blocks of the downtown retail district. This boost in available discretionary income will increase sales to 
downtown businesses and help to stabilize downtown as a retail center in the City. The development density of 
TID #8 will be higher than typical new development in the City and little new infrastructure or service capacity 
will need to be built, thereby allowing existing infrastructure to serve even more residents, thus making the 
delivery of public services more efficient. The development of TID #8 will create a residential neighborhood 
and offer housing types not generally found in the rest of the City. The increase in diversity of housing stock 
will make Stoughton an option as a place of residence for new households as well as for existing households in 
the City looking for something different. This will help to stimulate improvements in the city’s overall rental 
housing stock. 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 27 


MAPS OF EXISTING USES AND CONDITIONS OF PROPERTY 
 


 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 28 


  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 29 


  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 30 


MAPS SHOWING PROPOSED USES AND IMPROVEMENTS IN THE DISTRICT 
 


 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 31 


  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 32 


  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 33 


ATTORNEY’S OPINION LETTER 
 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 34 


APPENDIX 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 35 


Blight Study 2009  
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 36 


Development Projections 


Community design charrette development scenario “B” prepared by Engberg Anderson:  


 







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 37 


  


  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 38 


   







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 39 


Cost Estimates 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 40 


Letters to overlying taxing jurisdictions  
Notification of initiation of TID plan amendment process 
 
 
 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 41 


Joint Review Board Meetings 


JRB MEETING #1 MEETING NOTICE PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 42 


 


JRB MEETING #1 MEETING MINUTES 
 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 43 


JRB MEETING #2 MEETING NOTICE PROOF OF PUBLICATION 
 
 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 44 


JRB MEETING #2 MEETING MINUTES 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 45 


Public Hearing 
 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 46 


RDA Public Hearing Notice 
 
 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 47 


Joint Review Board Public Hearing Notice 
The following public hearing notice was sent to the chief executive officer of each of the overlying taxing 
jurisdictions by first class mail.  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 48 


Property Owners Public Hearing Notice 
The following public hearing notice letter was sent to all property owners within TID #4. 


  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 49 


RDA Minutes of  Public Hearing 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 50 


Resolutions 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 51 


RDA Resolution Approving Amendment 


 
 
 
 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 52 


City Council Resolution Approving Amendment 
  







TID #8 Project Plan 


 
Page 53 


JRB Resolution Approving Amendment 
 


 





		Introduction

		TID Creation process

		District Boundary and Map of TID #8

		Parcels Included in TID #8

		Parcels in TID #8:



		Statement of Kind, Number and Location of Proposed Public Works

		A. Capital Costs

		A. Property Assembly Costs

		B. Cash Grants

		C. Professional Services

		D. Discretionary Payments

		E. Administration Costs

		F. TIF Organizational Costs

		G. Financing Costs



		Economic Feasibility Study

		Detailed List of Project Costs

		Financial projections

		Description of Financing Methods and Timeframe

		Proposed changes in zoning ordinances, master plan, building codes, map and city ordinances

		List of Non-Project Costs

		Proposed plan for relocating any displaced persons or businesses

		How the TID Promotes the orderly development of the Municipality

		Maps of existing uses and conditions of property

		Maps showing proposed uses and improvements in the district

		Attorney’s Opinion Letter

		Appendix

		Blight Study 2009

		Development Projections

		Community design charrette development scenario “B” prepared by Engberg Anderson:

		Cost Estimates

		Letters to overlying taxing jurisdictions

		Joint Review Board Meetings

		JRB Meeting #1 Meeting Notice Proof of Publication

		JRB Meeting #1 Meeting minutes

		JRB Meeting #2 Meeting notice proof of publication

		JRB Meeting #2 Meeting minutes



		Public Hearing

		RDA Public Hearing Notice

		Joint Review Board Public Hearing Notice

		Property Owners Public Hearing Notice

		RDA Minutes of Public Hearing



		Resolutions

		RDA Resolution Approving Amendment

		City Council Resolution Approving Amendment

		JRB Resolution Approving Amendment










 


City of Stoughton Logo 


 
 
 


May 10, 2018 
Mayor Timothy Swadley 
City of Stoughton 
381 E. Main St. 
Stoughton, WI 53589 


 
Re: Proposed amendment of Tax Increment District #5 & creation of TID #8 


Dear Mayor Swadley, 


The City of Stoughton has initiated amendment proceedings for Tax Increment District 
(TID) #5 and planning for creation of TID #8. Wisconsin Statutes 66.1105(4m) requires 
the City notify the affected taxing jurisdictions of the proposed TID changes. The 
amendment and creation are an effort to restructure the city’s use of tax incremental financing to 
address changing circumstances.  
 
TID #5 was created in 2010 as a blight elimination district encompassing the railroad corridor 
that runs through downtown Stoughton. The TID has been in a decrement situation for several 
years due to the property revaluation of a failing manufacturer and the City’s assembly of 
blighted property in the riverfront redevelopment area. The process of property assembly and 
preparing the site for development has taken longer than initially planned when TID #5 was 
created. The on-going decrement situation combined with the amount of time that has elapsed 
without significant development requires the City to amend TID #5 by subtracting the riverfront 
redevelopment area and creating a new TID #8 around the area removed. This will place the 
remaining TID #5 on a better financial footing and reset the clock for the riverfront 
redevelopment area such that expected new development will be able to recover the 
extraordinary costs of preparing this site for development. 
 
The Stoughton City Council authorized planning for the TID restructure in December 2017 
(resolution attached). The Stoughton Redevelopment Authority (RDA) is overseeing the TID 
planning and has tentatively scheduled a public hearing for June 26, 2018.  
 
Prior to the public hearing, the Joint Review Board is requested to convene to review the 
proposed changes. Our records indicate Laurie Sullivan is the most recent appointment to 
the Stoughton JRB from the City of Stoughton and David Phillips is the at- large 
representative. Please let us know as soon as possible whether there will be a new 
appointment. The City’s representative is appointed by the Mayor and the at-large member 
is typically nominated by the City’s representative and approved by the other JRB members. 


 







 


To facilitate the selection of an acceptable date and time, we have established a Doodle 
poll for your JRB representative to select the dates and times they are available to meet 
within the allowable meeting period. The web address of the poll is: insert Doodle poll 
link. 


 
Please forward your JRB representative a copy of this letter. If you have any questions about  
this letter or the amendments and to confirm your JRB representative, please contact Rodney 
Scheel, Planning Director at City of Stoughton, 381 E. Main St., Stoughton, WI 53589; Phone 
(608) 873-6677 or email rjscheel@ci.stoughton.wi.us.  Gary  Becker  with GWB Professional 
Services is assisting the City prepare the TID documents. He may be reached at (608)444-0836 
or gwb@garywbecker.com. 


 
Sincerely, 
City of Stoughton 
 
 
 
Timothy Swadley 
Mayor 


 
Cc: Gary Becker, GWB Professional Services 



mailto:rjscheel@ci.stoughton.wi.us.

mailto:gwb@garywbecker.com.






Page 1 of 2 
 


APP(C)-1.0 (01/2018) 
 
 


COMMUNITY APPLICATION  
SECTION I-APPLICANT INFORMATION 


Legal Entity: ☒City ☐Town ☐Village ☐County ☐Tribal Entity ☐Nonprofit (Attach copies of IRS documents showing 


acceptance of Federal Tax Exempt Status) ☒Other Governmental Unit    
Legal Name: Redevelopment Authority of the City of Stoughton 
Trade Name: Stoughton RDA 
Mailing Address: 381 East Main St. 
City, State, Zip: Stoughton, WI 53589 
FEIN: 39-6005622 
(Federal Employee Identification Number – Tax ID or Social Security Number) 


NAICS: 92119 


Fiscal Year End Date: 12/31/2018 Check box if W-9 is attached to the application ☐ 
Website URL: http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/ Phone: (608) 873-6677 
Chief Elected Official: Timothy Swadley Title: Mayor 
Phone: (608) 873-6677 Email: tswadley@ci.stoughton.wi.us 


LOCAL GOVERNMENT CONTACT 
Name: Rodney Scheel Title: Planning Director 
Email: RJScheel@ci.stoughton.wi.us Phone: (608) 873-6677 
Mailing Address: 381 East Main Street 
City, State, Zip: Stoughton, WI 53589 


NON-GOVERNMENT CONTACT 
Name: Gary Becker Title: Planning Consultant 
Email: gwb@garywbecker.com Phone: 608.444.0836 
Mailing Address: 5813 Piping Rock Rd. 
City, State, Zip: Madison, WI 53711 


 
SECTION II-INFORMATION ON LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 


Has the applicant been involved in a lawsuit in the last 5 years? ☐Yes   ☒No 
Has the applicant been involved in a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding in the last 
10 years, or are any such proceedings pending? 


☐Yes   ☒No 


Has the applicant been charged with a crime, ordered to pay or otherwise comply 
with civil penalties imposed, or been the subject of a criminal or civil investigation in 
the last 5 years? 


☐Yes   ☒No 


Does the applicant have any outstanding tax liens? ☐Yes   ☒No 
Please attach a detailed explanation of any YES responses. 


 
SECTION III-STATE REQUESTS FOR BID OR PROPOSAL 


Are you aware of any State of Wisconsin request(s) for bid or request(s) for proposal 
to which the applicant intends to respond, or to which the applicant has recently 
responded?   
 
If yes, please provide the following: 


a. Identify the bid or request for proposal (e.g., bid number, or general 
description or title). Click here to enter text. 


b. Identify the state agency or public entity to which you are submitting the 
bid or proposal. Click here to enter text. 


c. Explain the status of the bid or proposal (e.g., recently submitted; 
considering submission; in current negotiations). Click here to enter text. 


Please note that if you answer “yes” WEDC may not be able to discuss potential financial assistance until the 
request for bid or request for proposal process has been completed.   


☐Yes   ☒No 







(i;;:\_ WISCONSIN ECONOMIC


\!!;/ DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION


CERTIFICATION STATEMENT 


THE APPLICANT CERTIFIES TO THE BEST OF ITS KNOWLEDGE: 


1. The information submitted to the Wisconsin Economic Development Corporation (WEDC) in this
application, and subsequently in connection with this application, is true and correct.


2. The applicant is in compliance with applicable laws, regulations, ordinances and orders applicable to
it that could have an adverse material impact on the project. Adverse material impact includes
lawsuits, criminal or civil actions, bankruptcy proceedings, regulatory action by a governmental entity
or inadequate capital to complete the project.


3. The applicant is not in default under the terms and conditions of any grant or loan agreements,
leases or financing arrangements with its other creditors that could have an adverse material impact
on the project.


4. WEDC is authorized to obtain background checks including a credit check on the applicant and any
individual(s) with 20% or more ownership interest in the applicant company.


5. The applicant has disclosed, and will continue to disclose, any occurrence or event that could have
an adverse material impact on the project.


THE APPLICANT UNDERSTANDS: 


1. This application and other materials submitted to WEDC may constitute public records subject to
disclosure under Wisconsin's Public Records Law, §19.31 et seq. The applicant may mark
documents "confidentiai» if the documents contain sensitive information.


2. Submitting false or misleading information in connection with an application may result in the
applicant being found ineligible for financial assistance under the funding program, and the applicant
or its representative may be subject to civil and/or criminal prosecution.


3. Authorization to Receive Confidential Information. The applicant hereby authorizes the Wisconsin
Economic Development Corporation ("WEDC") to request and receive confidential information that
the applicant has submitted to, including any adjustments to such information by, the Wisconsin
Department of Revenue ("DOR") and the Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development
("DWD"), and to use such information solely for the purposes of assessing the applicant's
performance for the duration of the economic development project and ensuring that WEDC is
properly administering or evaluating economic development programs. With regard to the information
contained in the DWD unemployment insurance files, WEDC may access the following for the 8 most
recent quarters: the quarterly gross wages paid to the applicant's employees; the monthly employee
count; and the applicant's FEIN, NAICS code, and legal and trade names. The applicant also
authorizes WEDC to share information submitted to WEDC by the applicant with the DOR and DWD
and to redisclose to the public the information received from the DOR and DWD used to evaluate the
applicant's performance under their specific economic development program and the impact of
WEDC economic development programs. Records exempted from public records law by Wis. Stat.§
19.36(1) will be handled by WEDC in accordance with that law.


IZIYes □No I certify that incentive assistance is needed to ensure this project will happen in
Wisconsin. Please pro · e details below:


Printed Name: Timothy Swadley Title: Mayor 


Pagel of2 







Page 1 of 4 
 


 
APP(C)-ISR-3.0 (08/2017) 


 
IDLE SITE REDEVELOPMENT  


SECTION A-INITIAL ELIGIBILITY  
1. The property is larger than 5 acres and has had over 25 years of industrial 


usage. 
                                                                      -OR- 


The property is larger than 10 acres and has had over 25 years of 
commercial usage. 


☒Yes    ☐ No 


2. The property has been vacant or underutilized for more than 5 years. ☒Yes     ☐No 
3. The applicant owns the targeted site or can demonstrate the legal ability to 


access the property and perform the work proposed in the application. 
☒Yes     ☐No 


4. The applicant agrees that grant funds will NOT be used for environmental 
work occurring on properties in which the current owner is also a causer 
who possessed or controlled the contaminant(s) on the site. 


☒Yes     ☐No 


5. The applicant agrees that funds received for remediation under the Idle 
Industrial Sites Program shall not replace funds from any other source, 
including Agri-Chemical, Petroleum Environmental Cleanup Act or the 
Superfund. 


☒Yes     ☐No 


6. The applicant agrees that funds received under the Idle Industrial Sites 
Program shall not be used for environmental remediation costs where 
there is a known viable causer of contamination with ownership interest in 
the property. 


☒Yes     ☐No 


Please contact your Regional Economic Development Director for eligibility information if any answers are “No." 
 


SECTION B-SITE DETAILS 
Location: ☒City ☐Town ☐Village: Click here to enter text. County: Dane 
Street Address:  433 E. South St., Stoughton, WI Project NAICS: 5311 
Site Size (Acres): 8.51 Current Zoning: MR-24 
Proposed Zoning: Planned Development Current Assessed Value: $0  
Projected Assessed Value: $40,000,000 Current Owner of Property: Stoughton RDA 
Start Date: 6/1/2018 End Date: 12/31/2020 
Project Description: Explain any other factors that should be considered in evaluating this project  
(e.g., impact on Wisconsin suppliers, national/international sales, and other prospects for future expansions, etc.) 
A contaminated 8.51 acre former industrial area along the Yahara River in downtown Stoughton has been 
assembled by the Stoughton RDA. The site is comprised of two properties on seven parcels – MillFab and 
Highway Trailers. The City is transitioning this area from blighted industrial use to a regional recreational 
destination and mixed-use residential development. The RDA is requesting assistance from WEDC to 
demolish the Highway Trailer building, stabilize the Yahara River bank and construct a Riverwalk trail and 
pedestrian bridge to connect the site to Mandt Park. The RDA will be soliciting a master developer for the 
property, but the City is commiting to investing in the riverfront amenities before a developer is committed. 
Planning studies indicate that up to $40 million or more in property value can be supported by the site given 
its central location and frontage on the Yahara River. However,Stoughton must support the early costs of 
transitioning the site from what it is to what it will be. This high initial cost is a burden for the City of 
Stoughton and sharing the costs with other governmental partners will increase the chance of a successful 
redevelopment. Successful development of this site will make a large part of downtown Stoughton 
productive again, contributing to the vitality of the downtown. The significant addition of tax base will help 
improve Stoughton’s fiscal capacity, providing greater ability to provide services demanded by residents. 
Adding 200 or more new households in this area will help support downtown businesses. The addition of 
new high-quality housing units will help improve the housing market for the entire City and support important 
local employers such as Stoughton Trailers and Cummins whose employees have a hard time finding decent 
housing in Stoughton. Upon completion of the City’s investment along the River, the site will be a regional 
destination with a municipal whitewater kayak park and bike trail connecting to regional water and bike trails. 
 







Page 2 of 4 
 


 
  
Is the project located in a TID? ☒Yes ☐No If yes, creation date: 2/23/2010 
Is the project located in a disaster area, as declared by state or federal authorities? ☐Yes ☒No 
If yes, was the declaration within 24 months prior to submitting an application? ☐Yes ☐No 
If yes, date of declaration: Click here to enter a date. 
Does the applicant or end user currently own the property on which work is to occur? ☒Yes ☐No 
If no, how do you have or expect to obtain ownership or access to the property? Click here to enter text. 
☐Condemnation Timeframe: Click here to enter a date. 
☐Tax Delinquency Timeframe: Click here to enter a date. 
☐Purchase (attach purchase agreement or option) Timeframe: Click here to enter a date. 
☐Development Agreement Timeframe: Click here to enter a date. 
☐Other: Click here to enter text. Timeframe: Click here to enter a date. 
If applicant will not own the property, what entity will/does? Click here to enter text. 
Current Site Ownership: Stoughton RDA Phone: 608-873-6677 Email: 


rjscheel@ci.stoughton.wi.us 
Final Site Ownership: Developer Phone: Click here to enter number. Email: Click here to enter text. 
Will the current owner, or applicant expecting to obtain ownership, remain the legal owner of the 
project site for 5 years following receipt of the award? ☐Yes ☒No 


 
SECTION C-REGULATORY INFORMATION (if applicable)  


DNR Project Manager Name and Mailing Address: 
Jeff Ackerman, 3911 Fish Hatchery Rd., Fitchburg, WI 53711 
 
Phone: 608-275-3323 E-mail: jeff.ackerman@wisconsin.gov 
Indicate the various case numbers or BRRTS numbers that have been assigned to the project site: 
 
1. 0213258425 
2. 0213579312 
3. 0213554724 
 


 
SECTION D-REDEVELOPMENT NARRATIVES  


Please provide detailed descriptions regarding the following aspects of your 
project:   


Included 
 


Attachment 
# 


1. Project Objectives: Provide a clear, accurate and concise summary of 
the project, the project goals and objectives, and how the project will 
directly or indirectly promote economic development of the area and 
support community revitalization. The summary should include the needs 
to be addressed, the proposed scope of work, total investment, projected 
impact on jobs and tax base, and any other factors of significant impact. 
Supporting documentation may be referenced in the application materials 
and attached (e.g., letters of support, testimonials from concerned 
interests, summaries of market and/or planning study data, demographic 
data). (Two-page limit, not including supporting documentation) 


☒ A-1 


2. Need for Assistance: Describe the nature and scope of the site’s 
challenges (physical, social, financial, institutional and/or other). Clearly 
and concisely justify the need for grant funding that cannot be met by the 
private sector alone (e.g., traditional financing, equity investment or donor 
support), local public sector support (e.g. RLF financing, TIF financing 
and/or public borrowing) or a reduction in the scope of the project. (Two-
page limit) 


☒ A-2 


3. Site Background: Describe the site location, history and significance of 
the site, past and current ownership and usage, any known contamination 
and causers, reasons for underutilization, and area and people to be 


☒ A-3 







Page 3 of 4 
 


impacted by the proposed project. Describe how this project aligns with 
any planning processes that have been completed relating to this site, and 
include any redevelopment plans specifically referencing the site as 
supporting documentation. (Two-page limit not including supporting 
documentation) 


4. Project Implementation: This section should provide a clear overview of 
the redevelopment strategy and project vision and a well-conceived overall 
approach to the project, including details demonstrating that the project 
will be implemented in a way that will achieve the program’s goals and 
objectives. Information provided should include the following (four-page 
limit): 
• An implementation plan and quarterly schedule that detail past and 


planned activities through one year past completion, including 
milestones and factors that might affect the schedule (e.g., permitting, 
planning, site control actions, site assessments, environmental 
cleanup), including strategies to address potential obstacles. 


• A description of the means by which the applicant has or expects to 
obtain ownership or access to the property, as well as descriptions of 
intended property transactions that will occur over the next 5 years. 


• Evidence of market viability (e.g., market data from a published 
source), marketing plans and descriptions of how the project is 
positioned for continued success after the end of the grant period. 


☒ A-4 


5. Project Viability: Provide information that includes the following (two-
page limit): 
• Describe and demonstrate that the applicant is able to implement 


project activities consistent with the project’s scope, scale and 
projected outcomes and sustain the project as described in the 
application. 


• Include name, role and qualifications of key individuals responsible for 
implementation of the project, including ownership percentage for any 
individual owning more than 20% of the project. 


• Describe the partnerships developed and demonstrate that the partner 
has sufficient and relevant experience and success in development 
and/or business operation similar to that being conducted under the 
proposed project. Include a partnership or other agreement between 
the applicant and the project partner that includes a description of the 
roles and the relationship between the applicant and the project 
partner in supporting documentation. The agreement should address 
topics such as: ensuring that detailed records documenting long-term 
job creation and appropriate expenditures of grant funds will be 
provided regularly; ensuring that the grantee plays a substantive role 
in the project and actively monitors partner(s)’ activities to ensure 
compliance with WEDC program requirements; and ensuring that all 
parties cooperate with WEDC monitoring efforts. As evidence of the 
project partner’s financial viability, individuals owning 20% or more of 
the project may be required to submit a signed and dated personal 
financial statement and may be subject to credit checks. WEDC 
funding shall not exceed 30% of eligible project costs.  


☒ A-5 


6. Project Financing: The applicant must include an acceptable financial 
plan for the project that demonstrates that the project has all financing 
needed to complete construction and to sustain the project for at least one 
year after completion. Supporting documentation that clearly demonstrates 
financial feasibility includes firm financial commitment letters from a 
lending institution or government entity. Financial statements consisting of 
income statements, balance sheets and cash flow projections may support 
project viability. Describe each line item in the project budget, itemized by 
funding source. The financial plan should also demonstrate that the 
financial estimates are grounded in solid assumptions, with cost estimates 


☒ A-6 







Page 4 of 4 
 


or bidding conducted for costs listed in the project budget, or an 
explanation of the basis for all costs, attached as supporting 
documentation. (Two-page limit not including supporting documentation) 


 
SECTION E-REQUIRED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION  


Please include the following attachments in the appendix and clearly identify each 
document: 


Included 
 


Attachment 
# 


1. A signed resolution by the governing elected body authorizing the 
submittal of an application to the Idle Sites Redevelopment.  ☒ B 


2. A map and aerial image indicating the project location within its municipal 
jurisdiction and any specially designated federal, state or local economic 
or taxation zone encompassing the project site; photographs of the site 
and surrounding area 


☒ C 


3. List of previous site owners/occupants from a Phase I Assessment or a 
title search ☒ A-3 


4. Statement declaring that a search was conducted to determine if the 
parties that caused contamination are unknown, or if known, are no longer 
in existence or have no ownership interest in the property, or that state 
funds will not be used for environmental remediation on the site if there is 
a known viable causer 


☒ D 


5. Copies of all Phase I and II Environmental Assessments performed on the 
project property ☒ E 


6. Copies of any subsequent environmental reports or correspondence 
produced that are relevant in demonstrating the progress of any 
environmental activities at your project site 


☒ F 


7. A copy of the redevelopment plan for the site ☒ G 


8. A copy of any cost estimates or bidding conducted for costs listed in the 
project budget, or an explanation of the basis for all costs ☒ H 


9. A copy of the agreement or document under which the applicant has or 
expects to obtain ownership or access to the property ☐ N/A 


10. Documentation that demonstrates the success of obtaining firm financing 
(e.g., commitment letters from lending institutions, municipal resolutions 
for financing or TID creation) 


☒ I 


11. Partnership or other agreement between the applicant and project 
partner(s) that includes a description of the roles and the relationship 
between the applicant and the project partner 


☐ N/A 


12. Statements from community, public and economic development leaders 
that support the project proposed for funding ☒ J 


13. Please list any other relevant documentation you have provided with your 
application, along with the page number: 
a. Summary of Planning Studies 
b. Moline Plow Company Historical Research 
c. Stoughton Market Analysis 2015 
d. Stoughton TID #8 Project Plan - Draft 


☒ K 


 







 


Page 1 of 2 
 


APP(C)-ISR-BUDGET-3.1 (05/2016) 


 
IDLE INDUSTRIAL REDEVELOPMENT SITE PROJECT BUDGET 


 
 


USES OF FUNDING 
 


 
SOURCES OF FUNDING 


(TIF, DNR, CDBG, USDA, Developer, etc.) 


 
 


TOTAL 
 


WEDC 
SOURCE #1 
NAME: TIF 


SOURCE #2 
NAME: Click 
here to enter text. 


SOURCE #3 
NAME: Click 
here to enter text.  


SOURCE #4 
NAME: Click 
here to enter text.  


SOURCE #5 
NAME: Click here 
to enter text.  


Acquisition $Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


Building Renovations $Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


Remediation $Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


Site Improvements: $Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


• Streets $Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


• Sewer/Water $Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


• Public Space       $500,000 $669,000 $Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$1,169,000 


• Parking $Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


• Other: Click here to 
enter text. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


Demolition $Click here to enter 
amount. 


$900,000 $Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$900,000 


Other (explain): 
Contingency  


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount. 


TOTAL USE OF FUNDS $500,000 $1,569,000 $Click here to enter 
amount. 


$Click here to enter 
amount.       


$Click here to enter 
amount.           


$Click here to enter 
amount.            


$2,069,000 


Please provide the following for the sources listed above 
Source Source Name Contact Name Contact Title Email Address Phone Number 


1. TIF 
 Tammy LaBorde Finance Director TLaBorde@ci.stoughton.wi.us 608.873.6691 


2. Click here to enter text. Click here to enter text. Click here to enter text. Click here to enter text. Number 
3. Click here to enter text. Click here to enter text. Click here to enter text. Click here to enter text. Number 


Ineligible costs for reimbursement, includes, but may not be limited to the following:  
-Grant application/bid preparation costs -Costs coved by other grants or programs -Insurance premiums -In-Kind contributions -Relocation fees –Acquisition costs –Zoning changing costs  
–Signage  –Advertising –New construction costs –Cost covered by other grants or programs –Lien claims of the DNR & EPA –DNR fees –Marketing studies –WEDC compliance reporting, 







 


Page 2 of 2 
 


including performance and SOE reporting and draw requests –Project administration fees –Financing fees, Interest payments, or the assumption of debt –Accounting, legal, appraisals, and 
architectural fees –Permits –Performance and payment bonds –Contingencies –Supplies and the purchase of movable equipment –Developer fees –Environmental costs where the viable 
causer is the current property owner –Non-environmental post-construction clean-up costs –Parking lot paving for non-environmental reasons, and striping –Decorative landscaping and 
fencing  
 





		CERTIFICATION STATEMENT










Attachment A 


City of Stoughton Redevelopment Authority 
Idle Sites Grant Application 
Project Narrative 


1. Project Objectives
 Prepare the site for development;
 Construct public riverfront improvements
 Secure a master developer for the site
 Execute a development agreement with the developer
 Develop the site to its highest and best use.


The City of Stoughton intends to partner with one or more developers to redevelop some 
or all approximately 16 acres of current and future City-owned and privately-owned 
property (the “Riverfront Redevelopment Area”) along the Yahara River in Stoughton, 
Wisconsin. The 8.5-acres at the heart of the redevelopment area targeted for the Idle 
Sites Grant includes two former industrial properties that have been closed or 
underutilized for over five years: 


 MillFab – 6.3 acres on six parcels
 Highway Trailer – 2.2 acres on a single parcel


The Redevelopment Authority of the City of Stoughton (RDA) has assembled these 
blighted properties over the past seven years. A CDI grant helped the City conduct its 
due diligence for the site, a SAG grant was secured to demolish the structures on the 
MillFab site and a WAM grant will be used to conduct a Phase II environmental 
assessment on the MillFab site. 


The next steps, for which the Idle Sites Grant is requested, are to demolish the Highway 
Trailer complex, except for the Blacksmith Shop portion of that complex, complete the 
environmental assessments, restore the riverbank, construct a pedestrian bridge across 
the Yahara River to Mandt Park and a Riverwalk trail along the River on the development 
site, remediate any soil and water contamination to a standard that will allow residential 
development, install a new lift station to serve future residential on the site, bury electric 
lines along E. South St., improve E. South St. and Fourth St. Completing these objectives, 
or at least having them underway, will prepare the site for active marketing to 
developers. 


Currently the two sites are not on the tax rolls and for decades prior to this they have 
been on the tax rolls, but at very low values considering the location of the property. The 
overall goal of the City is to improve these parcels so that they contain approximately 
$40 million of taxable property value and approximately 200 new housing units. 
Development of adjacent property that is also part of the redevelopment area, should 
add even more value and units. Successful accomplishment of this goal will strengthen 
the fiscal capacity of the City of Stoughton, strengthen the downtown retail district, and 
create housing options not currently available in the City, thereby attracting new 
residents, incenting improvement in the City’s existing rental stock and supporting local 
employers whose employees have a tough time finding decent housing in Stoughton. A 


Attachment A - Narrative, page 1







Attachment A 


major impact of this effort is to make the Yahara River a focal point for community living 
and recreation, rather than a place to avoid because of blighted industrial land uses. 
 
Needs: 


Improvements 


Immediate 
City 


Investments 


Additional 
Developer-
timed City 


Investments 


Highway Trailer Demolition1 $900,000  


Riverwalk 1,450 feet x 12' wide, paved, restore $377,000  


Pedestrian Bridge $382,000  


River Improvements (redev area only + ½ mobilization) $410,000  


Lift Station  $250,000 


Bury Electric Power Lines, E. South St.  $400,000 


E. South St. Improvements  $200,000 


4th St. Improvements  $200,000 


Environmental Remediation MillFab/HTB  $100,000 


Total $2,069,000 $1,150,000 
1Demolition of the Highway Trailer Building may need to begin prior to grant award due to the public 
safety hazard of the building. Demo work is expected to begin in June 2018. East South St. is currently 
closed due to the structural instability of the building. 
 
The City created Tax Increment District #5 in 2010 to help fund redevelopment activities in 
the entire railroad corridor that runs through downtown Stoughton. The riverfront 
redevelopment area was just a portion of the property included in TID #5. The City has 
decided to remove the riverfront redevelopment area from TID #5 and create a new TID #8 
to reset the TIF clock and improve the chance of a financially successful redevelopment 
effort. The process for creating the new TID is expected to be completed by Sept. 30, 2018. 
The project plan for TID #5 and the draft project plan for TID #8 are included as supporting 
documents to the application. The full scope of the City’s expected outcomes for this area is 
included in the TID #8 draft project plan. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


11.1 acres of TID #8 is comprised of 
parcels owned by either the City of 
Stoughton or the Stoughton RDA – 
shaded in green, TID #8 boundary 
in red. 


Attachment A - Narrative, page 2







Attachment A 


2. Need for Assistance 
The site targeted for this Idle Sites Grant has been in heavy industrial use for the past 140 
years. The site is covered with three-to-twelve feet of contaminated fill. Along the River, a 
portion of the Yahara River and riverbank wetlands were filled in to construct industrial 
buildings. The fill used on the site was foundry sand, cinders and wood waste. Much of 
this fill is contaminated with PAH and heavy metals in varying concentrations. 
Groundwater is within several feet of the surface, presenting additional challenges to 
future high-density development. 
 
When the river and riverbank wetlands were filled in, a seawall was constructed to hold 
in the fill. That seawall – approximately 115 years old – is failing in many places. The City 
will need to either repair the seawall or restore the riverbank to a more natural condition. 
In addition, this stretch of the river is an important link in a proposed Riverwalk trail and 
pedestrian bridge intended to connect this site to Mandt Park, the downtown and a 
future regional trail network as well as a planned whitewater park that is expected to 
become a regional recreational destination for residents of southern Wisconsin. 
 
Financially, the investment needed by the City to fund the proposed work will place a 
strain on City resources. The City of Stoughton has one of the lowest levels of fiscal 
capacity of any municipality in Dane County. The redevelopment of this critical site is an 
important strategy for the City to improve its fiscal capacity without adding the cost 
burden of additional new infrastructure, other than a lift station. Tax increment financing 
will be used to help finance the improvements, but an Idle Sites Grant is needed to 
reduce the prohibitive costs to the City and make the TID viable over its 27-year life. 
 
The scope of site preparation and public infrastructure needs are too great to be 
covered by private development alone. In addition to the public needs described 
above, a developer will be responsible for managing the grading and placement of 
contaminated soil, installing sufficient footings or piers to support buildings on poor, 
unstable soils, constructing under-building parking structures, installing appropriate storm 
water management facilities and constructing internal roads and landscaping. 
Supportable market rents in Stoughton are less than they are in areas closer to Madison, 
thereby reducing the developer’s financial capacity to deal with extraordinary site 
issues. 
 
All the proposed public improvements are needed to properly develop the site for high-
density residential. The City recognizes that public investment in high quality site 
amenities will drive high-quality, high-value development on this site. A reduction in the 
scope of the project is not possible without jeopardizing the goal of significant 
redevelopment. 
 
Financing of redevelopment activities is described within the TID #8 draft project plan, 
attached. The TID financials assume a $500,000 Idle Sites Grant and even with that, the 
TID only begins to cash flow in the last two years of its life. 
 


Attachment A - Narrative, page 3







Attachment A 


Fiscal Capacity of Dane County Cities & Village 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  


Stoughton’s need for an Idle Sites 
Grant is illustrated by the City’s 
relatively low fiscal capacity and 
the high expenditures required to 
facilitate redevelopment of the 
area encompassed by the subject 
site. 


Attachment A - Narrative, page 4


1-Jan Assessed 


TAXING DISTRICT 2016 2016 FULL Value 


TYPE/NAME POPULATION VALUE per Cap ita Rank 


V MAPLE BLUFF 1,304 375,359,600 


V SHOREWOOD HILLS 2,077 565,150,200 


CVERONA 12,100 2,373,890,700 


CEDGERTON 131 24,371,500 


CMIDDLETON 19,317 3,14 3,766,900 


CMONONA 7,864 1,187,593,600 


VWAUNAKEE 13,322 1,595,672,800 


V OREGON 9,797 1,008,065,500 


C FITCHBURG 27,635 2,8301645,500 


V COTTAGE GROVE 6, 635 675,986,200 


V DEFOREST 9,388 953,556,400 


V MCFARLAND 8,044 815,493,100 


VWINDSOR 7,145 717,943,200 


V CAMBRIDGE 1, 362 136,604,700 


CMADISON 247,207 24,596,422,250 


V MAZOMANIE 1,668 156,306,700 


V CROSS PLAINS 3,842 357,182,700 


V MOUNT HOREB 7,142 657,349,900 


CSUN PRAIRIE 32,613 2,772,245,800 


V BELLEVILLE 1,854 157,517,700 


V DEERFIELD 2,451 199,051,500 


V BLACK EARTH 1,388 111,234,000 


V DANE 1,090 85,603,900 


CSTOUGHTON 12,819 1,000,796,500 


V BLUE MOUNDS 938 69,078,200 


V ROCKDALE 213 15,334,900 


V BROOKLYN 953 66,897,300 


V MARSHALL 3,859 201,561,400 


518,538 56,550,867,750 


Sou rce: Dane County, Wisconsin Department of Revenue 


1,800,000 


1,600,000 


1,400,000 


1,200,000 


e 1,000,000 
0 


~ 800,000 


600,000 


400,000 


200,000 


0 


Projected Revenue and Expenditures TID #8 


$287,852 


$272,099 


$196,189 


$186,042 


$162,746 


$151,016 


$119,777 


$102,895 


$102,430 


$101,882 


$101,572 


$101,379 


$100,482 


$100,297 


$99,497 


$93,709 


$92,968 


$92,040 


$85,004 
$84,961 


$81,212 


$80,140 


$78,536 


$78,071 


$73,644 


$71,995 


$70,197 


$52,232 


$109,058 


00 ~ 0 - N M ~ ~ ~ ~ 00 ~ 0 - N M ~ ~ ~ ~ 00 ~ 0 - N M ~ 
- - N N N N N N N N N N M M M M M M M M M M ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ 


g g g g g g g g g g ~ g ~ g g g ~ g g g g ~ g ~ g g g 
Year 


- Revenues - Expenditures 


1 


2 


3 


5 


9 


12 


25 


36 


37 


38 


39 


41 


42 


43 


44 


48 


49 


50 


51 


52 


53 


54 


55 


56 


57 


58 


59 


61 


FULL VALUE Local 


EFFECTIVE Tax 


RATE LOCAL TAX Rate Rank 


0.02079 2, 359,000 0.63% 45 


0.01952 2,563,497 0.45% 35 


0.02061 13,085,916 0.55% 42 


0.02198 71,182 0.29% 22 


0.01933 16,592,200 0.53% 39 


0.02244 6,519,175 0.55% 41 


0.02023 9,305,606 0.58% 43 


0.01963 5, 375,940 0.53% 40 


0.02271 21,501,215 0.76% 56 


0.02214 3,399,324 0.50% 38 


0.02083 6,532,120 0.69% 48 


0.02168 5,672,559 0.70% 51 


0.01881 3,511,333 0.49% 37 


0.0229 1,078,859 0.79% 57 


0.02324 219,728,625 0.89% 61 


0.02206 1,098,396 0.70% 53 


0.02016 2,447,850 0.69% 49 


0.01877 4,206,379 0.64% 46 


0.02277 20,930,527 0.76% 55 


0.02218 1, 382,918 0.88% 60 


0.02215 1,302,929 0.65% 47 


0.02168 768,543 0.69% 50 


0.0219 640,500 0.75% 54 


0.02213 8,098,255 0.81% 58 


0.02067 327,739 0.47% 36 


0.01957 65,645 0.43% 34 


0.02282 561,308 0.84% 59 


0.02175 1,413,273 0.70% 52 


0.02127 385,559,457 







Attachment A 


0


1000000


2000000


3000000


4000000


To
ta
l A


ss
es
se
d
 V
al
u
e


Year


MillFab Change In Assessed 
Value 2010 ‐ 2018


Source: Wisconsin Dept. of Revenue


0


50,000


100,000


150,000


200,000


250,000


Ja
n
u
ar
y 
2
0
1
2


A
p
ri
l 2
0
1
2


Ju
ly
 2
0
1
2


O
ct
o
b
er
 2
0
1
2


Ja
n
u
ar
y 
2
0
1
3


A
p
ri
l 2
0
1
3


Ju
ly
 2
0
1
3


O
ct
o
b
er
 2
0
1
3


Ja
n
u
ar
y 
2
0
1
4


A
p
ri
l 2
0
1
4


Ju
ly
 2
0
1
4


O
ct
o
b
er
 2
0
1
4


Electric Usage [kWh]


3. Site Background 
The site is located along the Yahara River in downtown Stoughton, just two blocks off 
Main Street and in the core of the City. A major City park – Mandt Park, is located 
directly across the Yahara River from the site. 
 
The site has been in nearly continuous industrial use for 140 years, detailed in the chart on 
the following page and in the historical research report included as a supporting 
document. The site was a major producer of wagons and trailers in the early part of the 
20th century. In the early part of the century, the site contained 15 large multi-story 
industrial buildings employing approximately 1,000. There is a direct link between this site 
and the establishment of Stoughton Trailers, which today accounts for nearly 30% of all 
semi-truck trailers produced in the United States. No trailers have been produced on this 
site since 1957. 
 
MillFab had been using the site for millwork production – primarily producing molding for 
Menards. Their contract with Menard’s was terminated in 2013, which led to the closing 
of the plant in 2014 – the last active use of the site. MillFab operated at a reduced 
capacity for about a year prior to closing the operation. In 2013 they were successful in 
having their property assessment reduced by the Wisconsin Dept. of Revenue. 
Additionally, their electric usage dropped significantly at the same time. These events 
are illustrated by the following charts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The entire site is contaminated by the fill that was applied to the site around the turn of 
the century when the site was built-out by the Mandt Wagon Works for wagon 
manufacturing. The Mandt Company apparently used waste sand and cinders from their 
foundry operation to fill-in a portion of the Yahara River and cover wet soils. The depth of 
fill ranges from 2’along the northern portion of the site to approximately 10’ along the 
River. Results of a geotechnical study and phase I and II environmental assessments of 
the site are included as supporting documents.  
 
The Mandt Wagon Works, causer of the environmental contamination, merged in 1929 
with Minneapolis Steel & Machinery Company and the Minneapolis Threshing Machine 
Company to form the Minneapolis-Moline Power Implement Company with 


Source: Stoughton Utilities 


Attachment A - Narrative, page 5







Attachment A 


manufacturing facilities in Minneapolis and Hopkins MN and Moline, IL. This company was 
acquired by the White Motor Company in 1963, which itself was purchased by AGCO 
(Duluth, GA) in 1991. Moline Plow Company closed its manufacturing operations in 
Stoughton in 1921 and in 1929 sold the site to the City of Stoughton who acquired the 
property to prevent razing of the buildings and to keep facilities that could employ the 
former workers. At that time the buildings were leased to the Highway Trailer Company 
which acquired the property in 1931. Manufacturing operations on this site ceased in 
1957 and the buildings were used primarily for storage after that time. 
 
MillFab acquired the former Moline Plow foundry building along the river in 1961 and 
manufactured wood molding there until 2014 when it went into receivership. Prior to 
closing it had a period of underutilization after it lost its contract with Menards in 2013 
and until its closing the following year. This underutilization is illustrated by the reduction in 
the manufacturing assessed value by the Wisconsin Dept. of Revenue and a sharp 
reduction in electric usage as shown in charts on the previous page. 
 
The area to the north and east of the site is primarily residential. These residents have 
been living with blighted properties for many years. Recently, E. South St. was closed by 
the City due to the risk posed by the deteriorated condition of the Highway Trailer 
building, severely inconveniencing all who use this busy arterial street. All taxpayers in the 
City are making up for the reduced property valuations in this area. While nearby 
properties in downtown Stoughton are valued at around $1 million per acre, the 
properties that are the subject of this grant application were valued at 1/10th that 
amount - $110,000 per acre. Redevelopment of this idle site will add significant new tax 
base to the City, alleviating the burden that taxpayers have been shouldering because 
of these undervalued properties. 
 
This project is in alignment with the Railroad Corridor Redevelopment Plan, Rail Corridor 
Neighborhood Plan, the City’s Comprehensive Plan 
(http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/index.asp?SEC=4898057C-F65F-43D6-BED3-5CEC65FC3D60&Type=B_BASIC), 
The TID #5 Project Plan and the draft TID #8 Project Plan. These references as well as a 
seven-page summary of studies, maps and plans related to the riverfront redevelopment 
area are included as supporting documents. 
 
 


Attachment A - Narrative, page 6







Attachment A 


Table 1 – Site Ownership & Occupant Information 
From To Owner Occupant Primary Land Use 


MillFab Property 
2017 Current Stoughton RDA None Vacant 
2014 2016 Receivership None Vacant 
1962 2014 Holley Molding, Inc. Millfab, Inc. Industrial – Wood Moldings 


Unknown 1962 Seacraft Seacraft Industrial – Wood Moldings 


Unknown 
 


Unknown 
  


Stoughton Cab & Body 
Co., Garden City Foundry 
Co., Badger Wheeler, 
Stoughton Manufacturing 
Company, Stoughton 
Highway Trailer Co. 


Industrial 


~1921 ~1949 Stoughton Woodwork 
Company 


Stoughton Woodwork 
Company Industrial – Mill Work 


~1906 ~1921 Moline Plow Moline Plow Industrial – Wagons & Plows 


~1904 ~1906 C. Mandt Vehicle 
Company 


C. Mandt Vehicle 
Company, Foundry, Coal 
House 


Industrial – Wagon 
Manufacture & Coal Storage 


~1892 ~1904 C. Mandt Vehicle 
Company 


C. Mandt Vehicle 
Company, Coal House 


Industrial – Wagon 
Manufacture & Coal Storage 


~1887 ~1892 Unknown Coal House Industrial 
~1884 ~1887 Unknown Coal House, Grain Cribs Industrial 
Prior to 
1884 ~1884 Unknown Hog Pens, Grain Cribs Agriculture-Commercial 


Highway Trailer Site 
2010 Current Stoughton RDA None Vacant 
1972 2010 Don Wahlin Stoughton Trailers  Storage/warehouse 
1957 1972 TCJ Trailer TCJ Trailer Storage/warehouse 


1948 1957 Highway Trailer Highway Trailer Manufacture/assemble truck 
bodies 


1925 1948 City of Stoughton 


*Mid-West School Furniture 
Co. (briefly) 
*Highway Trailer 
*Garden City Foundry 
*Stoughton Cab & Body 
Co. 
*Stoughton Manufacturing 
Co. 


Manufacture/assemble truck 
bodies; some parts used for 
tobacco storage. 


1902 1925 Moline Plow Co. Moline Plow 
Constructs existing building. 
Manufacture/assembly of 
wagons. 


1896 1902 T.G. Mandt Vehicle Co. T.G. Mandt Co. 
Manufacture/assembly of 
wagons. No buildings remain 
on this site from this owner. 


 
  


Attachment A - Narrative, page 7







Attachment A 


4. Project Implementation 
Project Vision: An urban waterfront neighborhood built around riverside green space and 
recreational opportunities, with varied and modern living spaces for the young and old 
alike that enhances downtown vitality and serves as a regional destination. 


 


Implementation – Past Activities 
Year Activities 
2004 Alexander Company proposes redevelopment of the former Highway Trailer 


building. City denies TIF request – the request was higher than the Council felt 
was justified. Alexander conducts Phase I & II environmental assessments. 


2005 The City begins planning for the redevelopment of blighted properties in 
downtown Stoughton. At that time, the focus was on the entire railroad 
corridor that comprised the former industrial heart of the City. City creates a 
comprehensive plan that designates riverfront area as “planned mixed use”. 
City secures grant to study the stability of the Yahara River bank. 


2007 ArtSpace – a non-profit developer creating work-live space for artists 
evaluates the feasibility of redevelopment the Highway Trailer building. City 
was unwilling to commit funds for pre-development activities. 


2008 City establishes a Redevelopment Authority (RDA) to help manage 
redevelopment activities. A Rail Corridor Redevelopment Plan is prepared, 
and Redevelopment District #1 is created. 


2009 The Rail Corridor Neighborhood Plan is prepared, adding more design detail 
to the initial Redevelopment Plan. Planning for the creation of TID #5 begins. 
Movin’ Out approaches the City with a proposal for a workforce housing 
development in the riverfront redevelopment area – a site along the river 
formerly used by Stoughton Trailers for trailer storage. The RDA begins 
negotiating for the acquisition of the Highway Trailer building. Phase I & II 
environmental assessments are prepared by Ayres Associates.  


2010 TID #5 is created by the City. Grant funding is secured to prepare a business 
incubator feasibility study. Movin’ Out and the City reach agreement on the 
development of a 33-unit workforce housing project called Elven Sted – a $7 
million investment. RDA acquires Highway Trailer building from Don Wahlin. 


2014 MillFab ceases operations, property goes into receivership.  
2015 City begins negotiating with Receiver for acquisition of the MillFab property. 


RDA secures a CDI grant from WEDC to conduct pre-development due 
diligence on City-controlled property in the riverfront redevelopment area. 
This includes a title report, geotechnical investigation, ALTA survey, 
environmental assessments, market analysis and a developer request for 
proposals. Wisconsin DNR issues municipal liability exemption for RDA 
acquisition of the MillFab property.  


2016 RDA completes developer RFP and releases it in September. RDA begins 
negotiating with Anchor Bank for acquisition of the Carpet Warehouse 
building. RDA has a determination of eligibility prepared to evaluate the 
historic significance of the buildings on the MillFab, Highway Trailer and Public 
Works Garage sites. RDA closes on the MillFab property in December. RDA 
receives three development proposals in December. 


2017 RDA selects Tannesay as the master developer for the riverfront 
redevelopment area. RDA decides to demolish Highway Trailer building. City 
Council places moratorium on demolition to prevent demolition of Highway 
Trailer building. RDA secures grant to conduct a master plan design charrette 
with the selected developer team. Design charrette conducted in June. 


Attachment A - Narrative, page 8







Attachment A 


Master developer pulls out of project following design charrette. City 
commissions study on the structural integrity of the Highway Trailer building. 
Architect recommends closing E. South St. due to public risk from building 
instability. City closes E. South St. RDA secures SAG grant to help fund 
demolition of MillFab buildings. Demolition plans and specs are prepared, 
and pre-demolition activities completed. City reaches agreement with bank 
for purchase of Carpet Warehouse building. City plans for a new Public Works 
Garage finalized. 


2018 Demolition of MillFab buildings completed. City Council authorizes demolition 
of Highway Trailer building – except the Blacksmith Shop. City closes on 
Carpet Warehouse building after a successful environmental clean-up by the 
bank. Carpet Warehouse building is demolished. Financing secured for new 
Public Works Garage. Plans prepared for riverfront restoration and whitewater 
park. 


Implementation – Planned Activities 
Year Qtr Activities 
2018 2 Complete demolition of MillFab and Carpet Warehouse buildings. 


Apply for Idle Sites Grant and WAM grant for environmental assessment 
of Highway Trailer site. Continue preparing project plan for new TID #8. 
City Parks Department submits DNR grant for funding Riverwalk and 
Whitewater Park. 


2018 3 Secure Idle Sites Grant; Demolition of Highway Trailer building; Conduct 
assessment of MillFab and Highway Trailer sites through WAM; TID #8 
project plan approved by City Council; E. South Street reopens; DNR 
Stewardship grant received for Riverwalk, pedestrian bridge and 
whitewater park. 


2018 4 Begin soliciting developer interest in site; Complete demolition of 
Highway Trailer building; 


2019 1 Conduct phase II assessment of Public Works Garage site; Begin design 
work for Riverwalk, pedestrian bridge and whitewater park, issues bid 
solicitation;  


2019 2 Master developer selected; City lets contract for riverbank stabilization, 
Riverwalk path, pedestrian bridge and whitewater park; 


2019 3 Developer prepares site master plan; City begins design processes for 
lift station and street improvements; Developer begins planned 
development rezoning process; 


2019 4 Public Works Garage site is vacated, demolished; Begin environmental 
remediation of Public Works site; Planned development rezone process 
completed; bid solicitation for lift station, street improvements, burying 
electric power lines; 


2020 1 Developer and City prepare for start of construction; 
2020 2 Construction begins – developer’s first building, lift station, street 


improvements, bury electric power lines;; 
2020 3 Construction continues; 
2020 4 Developer completes construction of first building, public 


improvements completed; Plans completed for 2nd building; 
Factors That Could Impact Schedule and Mitigation Response: 


 TID #8 Project Plan is not approved by City Council – a Committee of the Whole 
meeting is planned for June 2018 to review the draft project plan prior to the plan 
going to public hearing.  


Attachment A - Narrative, page 9







Attachment A 


 Lack of interest in site by developers – City staff and RDA members intend to 
meet one-on-one with major developers in the Madison area to sell them on the 
strengths of the site. 


 Phase II assessments of MillFab and Highway Trailer sites identify more significant 
contamination than expected – development schedule or phasing plan is 
adjusted to account for the additional time for remediation/mitigation. 


 Idle Sites grant or WisDNR Stewardship grant is not received – this could represent 
a setback in implementation. We don’t expect there to be much flexibility in the 
City budget to make up for the loss of expected grant funding. Hope that costs 
come in significantly less than estimated to make up for the lack of grant funds. 


 Demand for housing evaporates – this would delay implementation of 
development, but it is likely that demand would return after a period of time. 


 Significant contamination found on Public Works Garage site – this would not 
delay start of construction as that site would not be in the first phase of 
redevelopment. There is time to resolve any remediation/mitigation before the 
MillFab/Highway Trailer/Carpet Warehouse sites are fully built out. 


 
Property Transactions 
The RDA has already acquired the Highway Trailer, MillFab and Carpet Warehouse sites 
through voluntary purchase. The MillFab property was purchased through receivership 
and the Carpet Warehouse property was purchased through bank foreclosure. The City 
already owns the Public Works Garage site. The new Public Works Garage is expected to 
be completed in 2019, freeing the site in the riverfront redevelopment area for 
development activities. No other property transactions are planned or needed to 
accomplish the intended redevelopment. 
 
Evidence of Market Viability 
The RDA has already received three developer proposals for redeveloping all or portions 
of the riverfront redevelopment area and had previously selected a master developer – 
Tannesay. This developer, who was ready to commit to $60 million in new development, 
pulled out of the project, not because of the lack of market demand, but rather it 
became apparent to the developer during the master plan design charrette in June 
2017 that the City Council was not ready to move forward with any development plans. 
There were several issues the Council had concerns about that needed to be resolved 
before any developer would be able to move forward, including: 


 Density 
 Preference for ownership units over rental 
 Demolition of the Highway Trailer building; 
 Affordable housing 
 Degree of commercial development 


A retail and residential market analysis was performed in 2015 and is included as a 
supporting document. We have come a long way in resolving some of these issues and 
the Council is now in a better position to move forward than it was a year ago. We are 
confident that the Dane County market will continue to be strong into the foreseeable 
future. Further evidence of market viability is the performance of Kettle Park West – a 
major commercial and residential development on the west edge of Stoughton. Over 
$20 million of development has been put in place in that development over the past 
three years. The riverfront redevelopment area will provide new upscale housing units on 
a site with many natural and recreational amenities just two blocks from the historic arts 
district, restaurants, shops, and entertainment along Main Street. We believe this 
development will attract people to Stoughton who would otherwise never consider the 
City as a place to live. 


Attachment A - Narrative, page 10







Attachment A 


5. Project Viability 
City’s Ability to Implement 
The City of Stoughton established a Redevelopment Authority in 2008 to lead 
redevelopment efforts in the City. The RDA is mostly comprised of professionals with 
backgrounds in real estate, development, construction, lending and marketing. The RDA 
hires consultants as needed to provide the expert information they need to make 
informed decisions. Gary Becker, CEcD, a planner with over 30 years of redevelopment 
planning experience, has been on retainer by the RDA since its founding. Gary will 
continue to be involved with the RDA to implement this redevelopment project. 
Additionally, the City has capable staff to guide implementation of this project, including 
an experienced planning director – Rodney Scheel and an experienced Finance 
Director – Tammy LaBorde. 
 
The City has the financial capacity to implement the project. This capacity is discussed in 
detail in the draft TID #8 project plan, which is included as a supporting document. 
 
The best evidence for the City’s ability to implement this project is what they have 
already accomplished as described in the previous sections of this application. 
 
Implementation Team 
Gary Becker, CEcD – project manager 
Tammy LaBorde, Finance Director 
Rodney Scheel, Planning Director 
Matthew Dregne, City Attorney, Stafford Rosenbaum 
Timothy Swadley, Mayor 
Roger Springman, RDA Chair 
Carl Chenoweth, RDA Commissioner (retired civil engineer) 
Regina Hirsch, RDA Commissioner, City Council 
Denise Duranczyk, RDA Commissioner, City Council 
Ron Christianson, RDA Commissioner (neighborhood resident) 
Brian Girgen, RDA Commissioner, (construction contractor - J.P. Cullen) 
Dale Reeves, RDA Commissioner (proposed), (commercial banker) 
 
All property associated with this project is in public ownership and no individual owns 
more than 20% of the project. 
 
Partnerships 
The project partnership to date is between the City Council and the Redevelopment 
Authority. There currently is no private sector development partner. We expect to have a 
private sector development partner when the site is cleared and the TID #8 project plan 
has been approved. 
 
 
 
 


Attachment A - Narrative, page 11







Attachment A 


 
6. Project Financing 
The City of Stoughton will be financing the proposed project budget, along with the 
Idle Sites grant. A summary of the budget follows: 
Project Budget: 
WEDC Idle Sites Grant: 
Public Space – $500,000: Cost of stabilizing/restoring the Yahara River and constructing a 
Riverwalk trail and pedestrian bridge.  
 
City of Stoughton TIF: 
Public Space - $729,000: Remaining cost of stabilizing/restoring the Yahara River and 
constructing a Riverwalk trail and pedestrian bridge. 
Demolition - $900,000: Cost of remediating hazardous material in the Highway Trailer building 
and demolition of the complex of buildings which may or may not include the Blacksmith 
Shop, depending upon its condition following demolition of the building around it. 


 
The City has bonded for the demolition of the Highway Trailer building and has committed to 
funding the proposed riverfront improvements. A funding request has been submitted to the Wis 
DNR to secure additional grant funds to support the City’s significant investment in this area. All 
project costs are included in both the original TID #5 project plan as well as the new TID #8 
project plan, expected to be approved in July 2018. 
 
Cost estimates for the project budget are included as supporting documents in Attachment H.  
 
The current TID #5 project plan and draft TID #8 project plan are included as supporting 
documentation to support the City’s capacity to finance the project. Also included is a 
municipal resolution authorizing issuance of a bond to finance demolition of the Highway Trailer 
building, a municipal resolution authorizing submission of a WisDNR grant application and a 
municipal resolution authorizing planning for the amendment of TID #5 and the creation of TID 
#8. 
 
  


Attachment A - Narrative, page 12







Attachment A 


 
 


Major uses of site: Green – City public works garage until 2019; Blue – MillFab wood milling 
ceased operations in 2014, now owned by Stoughton RDA, buildings now demolished; Orange 
– Highway Trailer Building – ceased industrial operations in 1957, buildings scheduled for 
demolition in June 2018; Yellow – Robert’s Auto ceased operations in 2015, now owned by the 
Stoughton RDA, building now demolished; Red – Stoughton Trailer leased warehouse space, 
available for inclusion in a redevelopment project, not in public ownership. Remaining uses 
are primarily residential. 
 


Attachment A - Narrative, page 13





		Moline Plow Company DOE submittal 11-15-2016.pdf

		Moline Plow Company DOE submittal 11-15-2016

		Moline Plow Co DOE

		Moline Plow Appendices 11-15-2016



		Appendix 4

		Moline Plow Company DOE submittal 11-15-2016

		Mandt Wagon Works NRHP Questionnaire











